Trainings for Infectious Disease Outbreaks and Other Emergencies in Low and Middle Income Country Settings:

a Systematic Literature Review

Courtland Robinson Amelia Goldsmith Peter Merkt Alexa Edmier Kim Stanford Nora Hellman Paul Spiegel

Center for Humanitarian Health Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health

April 14, 2019

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	
A. Introduction	1
B. Methods	4
C. Results: General	7
D. Results: Training Implementation	11
E. Results: Training Evaluation	19
F. Results: Training Curriculum	32
G. Results: Training Recommendations	40
H. Discussion and Conclusions	52
I. References	56

Tables and Figures

Figure 1. Literature Search Flow Diagram	5
Table 1. Characteristics of Included Articles	8
Table 2. WHO Regional Groupings and Individual Countries	9
Table 3. Characteristics of Training Implementation Articles	12
Table 4. Training Implementation Articles: Topics, Methods and Key Focus and/or Findings	15
Table 5. Characteristics of Training Evaluation Articles	20
Table 6. Pre-Post Training Evaluation Articles: Topics and Key Focus and/or Findings	22
Table 7. Post-Only Training Evaluation Articles: Topics and Key Focus and/or Findings	25
Table 8. Other Training Evaluation Articles: Topics, Methods, and Key Focus and/or Findings	28
Table 9. Multiple Method Training Evaluation Articles: Topics, Methods, Key Focus or Findings	27
Table 10. Characteristics of Training Curriculum Articles	32
Table 11. Format and Contents of Training Curricula	34
Table 12. Characteristics of Training Recommendation Articles	41
Figure 2. Guidelines for Collaborative Training Efforts	45
Table 13. Training Recommendation Articles: Content Topics and Key Findings	50

Executive Summary

Background As part of the Global Health Security Agenda, the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention awarded a grant to the Center for Humanitarian Health at the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health to, among other things, conduct a systematic review of literature on trainings on infectious disease outbreak (and other emergencies) response, including implementation, evaluation, curriculum and recommendations.

Methods The literature review searched three databases—Scopus, EmBase, and PubMed—using four "concepts" (each concept combining controlled vocabulary and key words): "rapid response", "preparedness", "training" and "infectious disease." The publication date range was from January 1, 2000 to February 1, 2018. Articles included peer-reviewed journals and gray literature sources focusing on training implementation, training evaluation, training curriculum, and training recommendations. A total of 10,555 articles were included for title and abstract review; 225 articles were selected for fulltext review, and 160 articles were selected for full-text data extraction and analysis.

Results Most of the 160 publications came from and/or were focused on high-income or upper-middle income countries. These articles differed in significant respects—in training content, format, and evaluation methodologies to name only a few—from the much smaller number of publications that focused on lower-middle and low-income countries. While infectious diseases with pandemic potential threaten all countries, our review found that high income and upper-middle income countries tended to focus training efforts more on complex emergencies, bioterrorism, and mass casualty incidents than on infectious disease outbreaks. In lower-middle and low income countries, on the other hand, infectious disease was the predominant focus of training implementation. As content focus differed, so too did training formats and methods, with more extensive and complex simulations and interactive exercises being used in locations with more resources.

Regardless of training format, content, or duration, adequate evaluation of the training is essential. A key best practice and recommendation from the evaluations literature was the need to establish a list of key outcomes, competencies and skills that would be tested in the evaluation process for prior to conducting the training. While pre-post evaluations provide the benefit of measuring improvement from baseline, post-only evaluation methods were helpful in acquiring feedback which would allow for improved training development. Out of 83 evaluation articles, 15 recommended the need for re-

trainings to retain key objectives just as knowledge of the specific issue, participant confidence, familiarity with protocol, and efficiency. Re-training intervals should be considered in the context of how frequently the participants are applying the knowledge or skills emphasized in the training in conjunction with the participants baseline level of knowledge prior to a training.

The most effective curricula involve a combination of didactic lectures and interactive exercises, with drills and simulation thought to be the most effective method of learning, although also the most logistically complicated and resource intensive. Curricula should be tailored to the location and background of the learners, and there should be a method of assessment to ensure the efficacy of the curricula. A key training recommendation calls for the development of comprehensive, competency-based, multidisciplinary training programs that are easily adaptable for specific disasters and have clear outcomes that can be assessed and evaluated.

Conclusions Among our key findings are that there is a dearth of publications originating from and/or focusing on lower-middle income and low income countries. This is significant as one of the primary goals of the GHSA is to increase in-country capacity in LMIC settings to be able to respond to epidemics.⁶¹ While it is not necessarily the case that a lack of publications on trainings means that such trainings are not taking place, limited documentation raises a concern both about the quality and standardization of such trainings and the extent to which lessons learned are being shared.

As to the trainings themselves, the evidence suggests that the most effective trainings include a combination of didactic instruction and hands-on practice and exercises, and that the training is of sufficient duration (including re-training) to allow for in-depth learning. While the metric of what is "sufficient duration" may vary, the literature supports trainings that cover multiple days, providing opportunity for learning of content knowledge, practice of skills, and evaluation of both knowledge and skills. Effective trainings also must include robust evaluation methods to measure both knowledge and skills acquisition. These evaluation methods may vary but, ideally, they should include some measure of baseline and endline knowledge and skills, which favors a pre-post evaluation approach (as opposed to post-only methods). Finally, attention needs to be given to the implementation and sustainability of rapid response training in low-resource settings. Methods that include virtual emergency departments and online modules offer promise for application in low-resource and rural settings, though proper evaluation and more research is needed to assess their effectiveness.

A. Introduction

In 2012, the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) identified five "top global infectious disease threats" that it was watching that year: avian influenza A (H5N1), cholera, poliomyelitis (polio), enterovirus-71 (EV-71), and extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB), noting that "fortunately, the majority of outbreaks remain localized, and the global spread of a truly novel pathogen is rare."⁴⁰ In 2013, the CDC listed expanded to include the Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS-CoV) and Avian influenza A (H7N9); the epidemiology of both of these disease threats was "not well understood" and H7N9, in particular, due to its "presumed lack of pre-existing immunity among humans, could lead to a global pandemic."⁴⁰

Five years later, in 2017, CDC updated its list of top global infectious disease threats. These included the two subtypes of avian influenza A viruses (H5N1 and H7N9) and cholera, but now also included three types of vector-borne diseases that had caused large outbreaks since 2013 (yellow fever, chikungunya, and Zika virus) and, perhaps most significantly, Ebola virus disease (EVD). Up until 2014, outbreaks of EVD had been localized in sub-Saharan Africa but, in March 2014, a broader outbreak was confirmed in Guinea, which quickly spread to neighboring Sierra Leone, Liberia, and Nigeria.⁴¹ By March 2016, the outbreak in West Africa grew to be "the largest EVD outbreak ever recorded," with a total of 28,646 documented cases and 11,323 deaths in 6 West African countries, 3 cases in Europe, and 4 cases in the United States, including one death.⁴¹

In February 2014, just weeks before the Ebola outbreak, the Global Health Security Agenda (GHSA) had been launched as a partnership of governments, international organizations, and non-governmental organizations (NGOs). Its goals were to advance compliance with the World Health Organization's (WHO) International Health Regulations, the World Organization of Animal Health's (OIE) Performance of Veterinary Service Pathway, and other global health security frameworks.⁶¹ The GHSA partnership, which included more than 60 countries as of January 2018 "acknowledges the essential need for a multilateral and multi-sectoral approach to strengthen both the global capacity and nations' capacity to prevent, detect, and respond to infectious diseases threats whether naturally occurring, deliberate or accidental—capacity that once established would mitigate the devastating effects of Ebola, MERS, other highly pathogenic infectious diseases, and bioterrorism event."⁶¹

The GHSA commits support for 11 GHSA Action Packages with a three-pronged approach to Prevent, Detect, and Respond to infectious disease threats. As part of the action packages to detect disease threats, the GHSA commits to developing a workforce including physicians, veterinarians, biostatisticians, laboratory scientists, and epidemiologists; as part of the response action packages, is a commitment to "maintaining trained, functioning, multi-sectoral rapid response teamsⁱ and 'real-time' biosurveillance laboratory networks and information systems and trained Emergency Operation Center (EOC) staff capable of activating a coordinated emergency response."³⁷ Supporting this need for a welltrained workforce, the Global Health Risk Framework Commission stated that "Resilient health systems must have well-trained health workers and community participation to build public trust and provide culturally appropriate services...There is no question that the world will face pandemics in the future; the only question is the level of national and global preparedness and response."⁶³

As part of the GHSA, CDC awarded a grant to the Center for Humanitarian Health (CHH) at the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health to support a variety of capacity-building efforts for rapid response to outbreaks in low- and middle-income settings (LMICs). As part of this grant, a CHH team conducted a systematic review of literature on trainings on infectious disease outbreak (and other emergencies) response, including implementation, evaluation, curriculum, and recommendations.

This report presents results of that review conducted in 2018. While the primary focus is on rapid response trainings for infectious disease outbreaks in LMICs, the review expands this focus in three ways: First, though rapid response trainings are designed to prepare teams for a response within 24 hours, the training for such a response can take place over a longer period of time, including a year or more for some professional training, though it might also include highly-condensed "just-in-time" training in the context of an acute emergency. Second, though infectious disease outbreaks are the focus, also included are bioterrorism events and complex emergencies, where outbreaks may occur but in conjunction with other health threats, including conflict, displacement, inadequate shelter, and food and medical shortages. Third, though the focus is on training for LMICs, we felt it was important to examine literature from high-income countries as well. This was based in part on the dearth of articles

ⁱ "Rapid response teams" are defined as "rostered, trained, multidisciplinary teams able to deploy to a public health emergency in any part of the country within 24 hours to investigate and characterize the epidemic, evaluate patients, collect clinical specimens, oversee containment measures, and communicate with public health authorities" (CDC, 2018).

on trainings in LMIC settings, but also because we felt that findings from high-income countries can provide insights and suggestions for adaptation of training implementation and training evaluation to low and middle-income country settings.

B. Methods

B.1. Data Sources and Key Words

The literature review was conducted by searching three academic databases—Scopus, EmBase, and PubMed—using four "concepts" (each concept combining controlled vocabulary and key words): "rapid response", "preparedness", "training" and "infectious disease." These search terms were chosen in order to identify literature on trainings to improve responses to infectious disease outbreaks, mass casualty incidents (MCIs), bioterrorism events, and complex humanitarian emergencies.ⁱⁱ

B.2. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Articles in English, French and Spanish languages were deemed eligible for inclusion. The publication date range was from January 1, 2000 to February 1, 2018. Articles could be from peer-reviewed journals or from gray literature sources. In terms of types of articles, we chose to include four main types: training implementation, training evaluation, training curriculum, training recommendations, as well as systematic literature reviews of trainings or training methods. We also chose to include articles about training implementation, evaluation, curriculum, and recommendations in all countries regardless of income-level (Low, Middle or High) on the assumption that results and findings could be potentially adapted for different contexts.

B.3. Electronic Search Strategies

Adopting a Boolean logic framework, we searched for the overlap among the four specified concepts, which yielded an initial 11,444 articles for screening using the systematic review software, Covidence. Out of the original 11,444 articles, 889 were removed as duplicates. This left 10,555 articles to be included in the title review screening. Two reviewers independently read each title and, in more than 450 cases the abstracts as well. If the reviews were concordant to include or exclude, those decisions were final; in the event of a non-concordant review (there were 279 of these), a third reviewer rendered a final decision. This process resulted in 225 studies to be included for full-text review, of which 65 articles were removed during the data extraction process, leaving 160 articles to be selected for full-text data extraction and analysis.

ⁱⁱ Initially, it was envisioned to undertake an "all hazards" approach to the literature review on rapid response training. This proved infeasible due to the total number of initial records (nearly 30,000) and deemed beyond the scope of the project, whose focus was primarily on trainings to support response to infectious disease outbreaks, and other emergencies in which infectious disease outbreaks were likely to occur.



B.4. Data Extraction

The reviewers extracted information from each of the 160 eligible articles, using an 18-item form, which included (1) journal or publication; (2) title; (3) author(s); (4) year of publication; (5) region of article focus (based on the World Health Organization's regional groupings—AFRO, AMRO, EMRO, EURO, SEARO, and WPRO); (6) country in which the training or evaluation occurred, (7) country income-level (Low, Middle, High); (8) type of article (training implementation, training evaluation, training curriculum, training recommendations, and systematic literature review); (9) training content (Ebola, mass casualty incident, bioterrorism, etc.; (10) training format (in-person, online, mixed); (11) training audience (health departments, nurses, pediatricians, etc.); (12) training method(s) (lecture, simulation, exercise, etc); (13) training length; (14) evaluation method(s) (pre-post testing, case-control, etc.); (15) evaluation length; (16) evaluation description; (17) outcomes; and (18) key findings.

C. Results: General

C.1. Characteristics of Included Articles

From an initial list of 11,444 articles, the review team selected 160 for full-text review and data abstraction. The data abstraction forms included 18 items as noted in the Methods section above. General results described in this section focus on four of these items: region of focus, income-level of country/region of focus, year of publication, and type of article (see Table 2). Subsequent results sections focus on the four main types of articles about trainings (implementation, evaluation, curriculum, and recommendations); each of these, in turn, will present the findings in respect to the additional items in the data abstraction form that are relevant to particular types of article. Thus, the results from the training implementation articles (n=39) focus on training content, format, audience, method(s), length, outcomes and key findings. Results from the training evaluation articles (n=83) include these items but add evaluation method(s), description, and length. Results from the training curriculum articles (n=20) focus primarily on content, audience, methods, and key findings. Results from the training content as well as training and evaluation methods. The systematic literature articles on trainings (n=3) will be discussed in various sections as they pertain to implementation, evaluation, curriculum and/or recommendations.

C.2 Region of Focus

The regional categories were based on the WHO's regional groupings (WHO, 2018): African Region (AFRO), Region of the Americas (AMRO), Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMRO), European Region (EURO), South-East Asia Region (SEARO), and Western Pacific Region (WPRO). As noted in Table 1 below, 108 of the included 165 articles focused on the Region of the Americas, with another 27 focusing on the European Region, and 18 focusing on the African Region. The remaining 12 articles focused on the Western Pacific Region (4), the South-East Asia Region (3), and the Eastern Mediterranean Region (1). Four articles spanned multiple regions, in various combinations.

Characteristic	Category/Level	Number (%)
D		
Region of Focus	Region of the Americas (AMRO)	104
	African Region (AFRO)	17
	Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMRO)	1
	European Region (EURO)	27
	South-East Asia Region (SEARO)	2
	Western Pacific Region (WPRO)	4
	Multiple Regions	5
Income-level of Focal Country/Region**	High-Income	124
,, 0	Upper-Middle-Income	4
	Lower-Middle-Income	4
	Low-Income	13
	Mixed/Multiple	15
Year of Publication***	2000-2004	9
	2005-2009	60
	2010-2014	42
	2015-2018	49
Type of Article	Training Implementation	38
/1	Training Evaluation	83
	Training Curriculum	21
	Training Recommendations	15
	Literature Reviews on Training	3

Table 1.	Characteristics	of Included	Articles	(N=160)
----------	-----------------	-------------	----------	---------

^{*} The abbreviations for the WHO regions are the names of the regional offices (RO) [Accessed from: <u>http://www.who.int/about/regions/en/]</u>

*** WHO member states are grouped into 4 income groups based on World Bank income classification of economies for the fiscal year [Accessed from: <u>http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/definition_regions/en/]</u> *** Year of publication is aggregated in five-year intervals, with the exception of the 2015-2018 interval, which reflects publications in three full years (2105-2017) and two months of 2018.

C.3. Income-Level of Focal Country/Region

In terms of the income-level of the focal countries and/or regions, 124 articles focused on high-income countries, reflecting the predominance of AMRO and EURO in the literature. A total of 13 articles focused on low-income countries, while an additional 8 focused on either upper-middle income countries (4) or lower-middle income countries (4). Another 15 articles focused on multiple countries from different income-levels.

Table 2 below shows the individual countries, grouped by WHO region, that were named as a focal country in one or more of the included articles. The names of these focal countries (in bold) are followed by the number of articles in which these countries are referenced in the context of rapid response

training implementation, evaluation, curriculum, or recommendations. While the United States of America (USA) stands out dramatically above all other countries in being referenced in 99 articles, AMRO includes only 4 countries in total, counting the USA. AFRO, by contrast, includes 25 countries though many are referenced in article focusing on multiple African countries. EURO includes 11 countries, with references in 27 articles.

Table 2. WHO Regional Groupings and Individual Countries (Included Countries in Bold)

AMRO (n=104)	Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Bolivia, Brazil, Canada , Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Grenada, Guatemala , Guyana, Haiti (2) , Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico , Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, United States of America (99) , Uruguay, Venezuela.		
AFRO (n=17)	Algeria, Angola, Benin , Botswana, Burkina Faso , Burundi, Cameroon, Cape Verde , Central African Republic, Chad, Comoros, Congo, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo , Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ethiopia , Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau , Kenya, Lesotho , Liberia (2) , Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania , Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Niger, Nigeria , Rwanda, Sao Tome and Principe, Senegal , Seychelles, Sierra Leone (3) , South Africa , South Sudan, Swaziland, Togo, Uganda, Tanzania, Zambia , Zimbabwe.		
EMRO (n=1)	Afghanistan, Bahrain, Djibouti, Egypt, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Oman, Pakistan , Qatar, Saudi Arabia , Somalia, Sudan, Syrian Arab Republic, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates, Yemen.		
EURO (n=27)	Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina (2) , Bulgaria, Croatia , Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France , Georgia, Germany , Greece , Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel (3) , Italy (5) , Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Monaco, Montenegro, Netherlands , Norway , Poland, Portugal, Republic of Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, San Marino, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden (2) , Switzerland, Tajikistan, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Turkey, Turkmenistan, Ukraine, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (3) , Uzbekistan.		
SEARO (n=2)	Bangladesh, Bhutan, Democratic People's Republic of Korea (North Korea), India , Indonesia, Maldives, Myanmar, Nepal, Sri Lanka, Thailand , Timor-Leste.		
 WPRO (n=4) Australia, Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, China, Cook Islands, Fiji, Japan (2), Kiribati Lao People's Democratic Republic, Malaysia, Marshall Islands, Micronesia, Mongolia, Nauru, New Zealand, Niue, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Republic of Korea (South Korea), Samoa, Singapore, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu, Vanuatu, Viet Nam. 			
Note: Countries in Bold are those named as a focal country in one or more of the included articles. The country might have been the single focus of an article or could have been included in an article focusing on multiple countries. The number following the name of the country represents the number of different articles in which the country is referenced as a focal point (usually the location of a training implementation or evaluation, or the location of the authors reporting on training curricula or training recommendations).			

C.4. Year of Publication

Table 1 above presents the year of publication in three five-year intervals—2000-2004, 2005-2009, 2010-2014—with one interval, 2015-2018, that includes three full years plus the first two months of 2018. While there is general rise in the number of publications over time—from an average of 1.8 publications per year in 2000-2004, to 17 publications per year in 2015-2017 (counting only full years)— there appears to be a surge in publications from 2005-2009 (12.2 publications per year) followed by a decline from 2010-2014 (8.6 publications per year), then an increase again in 2015-2017. Given that the 165 selected articles do not include all articles from the initial list, it would be unwise to draw overly broad conclusions, though Morris (2003) notes an increased level of research and scholarship after the 2001 anthrax attacks in the United States. The 2015-2017 increase in publications per year occurred after the 2014 Ebola outbreak which suggests a similar increase in research and publication following this globally significant event (Cruz-Calderón, 2015).

C.5. Type of Article

As noted previously, the literature review focused on trainings to improve responses to infectious disease outbreaks, MCIs, bioterrorism events, and complex humanitarian emergencies. To further classify the types of articles on training, in the process of the initial title and abstract review, four main categories were identified: training implementation, evaluation, curriculum and recommendations. Of these, the final list of articles for full-text review included 38 articles on training implementation, 83 articles on training evaluations, 21 articles on training curriculum, and 15 articles on training recommendations. More detailed results on these different types of articles are presented in separate sections that follow.

D. Results: Training Implementation

D.1. Overview

The articles classified as "training implementation" were ones that primarily described the <u>process</u> by which a training, or series of trainings, took place. While some of these articles may have included a brief description of how the training was evaluated, or what sort of curriculum was used, or what recommendations might follow, the primary focus was on how the trainings were implemented. Our review identified 38 articles that described the implementation of rapid response training curricula (Table 4).

The majority of training implementation articles described trainings that took place in high-income countries (n=24, 64%),^{14,65,69,70,102,109,115,118,129,131,133,135,138,148,154,155,158,162-166,171} including 23 in the USA. ^{5,14,65,69,70,102,109,115,118,129,131,135,138,148,154,155,158,162-166} Most of the remaining articles described trainings implemented in low-income countries (n=8),^{52,77,92,98,107,117,137,152} including five in in West Africa. ^{52,77,92,98,107} Duration of trainings ranged from two-day exercises to two-year field epidemiology and laboratory training programs. Most trainings were less than one week in duration (n=21),^{52,65,69,77,92,93,99,109,110,115,128,129,133,135,137,148,152,154,158,163,168} while the longest training programs were primarily those incorporated into medical school or field epidemiology programs, rather than those tailored as continuing education modules for health professionals. Infectious disease response was the most common content theme across trainings, and some articles focusing on specific diseases such as Ebola, ^{52,77,98,115} smallpox,¹⁶⁸ tuberculosis, and polio.¹¹⁰ Health professionals were the largest target audience type (n=30)^{5,52,65,69,77,79,29,39,99,107,110,113,115,117,118,124,128,135,137,148,152,154,155,158,162,164-166,168 as compared to students(n=8).^{102,109,129,131,133,138,163,171} Key characteristics of the 38 training implementation articles are summarized in Table 3 below.}

Characteristic	Category/Level	Number (%)
Region of Focus	Region of the Americas (AMRO)	26
	African Region (AFRO)	8
	European Region (EURO)	2
	South-East Asia Region (SEARO)	1
	Multiple Regions	1
		24
Income-level of Focal Country/Region	High-Income	24
	Upper-Middle-Income	1
	Lower-Middle-Income	1
	Low-Income	8
	Mixed/Multiple	4
Year of Publication	2000-2004	2
	2005-2009	11
	2010-2014	14
	2015-2018	11
	2010 2010	
Content Topic	All Hazards	2
	Bioterrorism	3
	Cholera	2
	Complex Emergency	3
	Ebola	4
	Infectious Disease	10
	Mass Casualty Incident	9
	Polio	1
	Public Health Emergency	1
	Reproductive Health	1
	Smallpox	1
	Tuberculosis	1
Training Former		25
Training Format	In-person Online	25
	Online	4
	Mixed	/
	Not Specified or Applicable	2
Training Method	Exercise	7
_	Instruction	6
	Mixed Methods	21
	Not Specified	3
	Not Applicable	1

Table 3: Characteristics of Training Implementation Articles (n=38)

D.2. Key Focus and Findings

Below are some of the key focus areas and findings from the articles on rapid response training implementation. There were substantial differences, for example, between the high-income and uppermiddle income countries, on the one hand, and low-income and lower-middle income countries, on the other hand, in terms of training content, format, methods, target audience, and duration. These differences are presented below along with insights derived from the articles about training implementation process.

- 1. Training Content: Of the 25 trainings implemented in high- and upper-middle income countries, more than half (n=14) focused on complex emergencies, bioterrorism, and mass casualty incidents.^{5,65,69,70,129,131,135,155,158,162,165,171} Of the nine trainings implemented in low- and lower-middle income countries, ^{92, 52,77,98,107,117,128,137,152} eight of the trainings were related to responding to infectious disease outbreaks.^{52,77,98,107,117,128,137,152} Nine articles describe trainings that should be incorporated into broader curricula and materials that have been developed and that may be useful in other rapid response events.^{77,99,102,118,133,137,163-165} Pfenninger et al. outline a 14-module disaster education training course, including experiential learning, which can be adapted for basic medical student disaster education. Rajasingham et al. discuss the development of train-the-trainer materials for cholera outbreak response, which were originally designed to train community health workers in Haiti to respond to the 2010-2011 cholera outbreak.
- 2. Training Format and Methods: For the purposes of this review, the training methods were categorized as Exercise, Instruction, or Mixed Method. An Exercise was any training that included an interactive component where the trainee practiced a skill during a simulated event. The exercise could be referred to as a "tabletop exercise," which means trainees participated in a simulated event in a classroom-like setting, or exercises could be much more complex. For example, the Field Epidemiology Training Program was categorized as an exercise in this review, as FETP trainees gain extensive hands-on field experience. Implementation articles categorized with the "Instruction" training format included trainings that were lecture-based rather than experiential-based. Finally, "Mixed Method" included trainings that combined Exercises with Instruction. Most articles in the Implementation category used a Mixed Method (n=21) for training. A higher proportion of trainings in high- and upper-middle income countries included online components (9 of 25, 36%)^{69,118,148,155,162-166} compared to trainings that took place in low- and lower-middle income countries (1 of 9, 11%).⁷⁷ A total of 22 articles describe training

methods or formats that authors argue may be useful in future trainings, such as online formats, and propose different approaches to established

methods.^{65,69,70,109,110,113,115,117,124,128,129,131,135,138,152,154,155,158,162,166,168} These articles include Rega et al., which outlines an approach to a semester-long pandemic preparedness and response exercise, Heinrichs et al. (2008), which outlines a tool to train healthcare teams in virtual environments, and Lescano et al., which contrasts FETP-type training with an alternative method using short, locally tailored training courses to build outbreak response capacity in the Americas.

- 3. Target Audience: Articles on trainings implemented in high- and upper-middle income countries targeted students (n=8)^{102,109,129,131,133,138,163,171} and health professionals such as clinicians, first responders, or epidemiologists (n=17).^{5,65,69,70,110,115,118,135,148,154,155,158,162,164-166,168} In low- and lower-middle income countries, target audiences included clinicians, hospital staff, and laboratory scientists, but notably did not include students. Six articles described the number of people trained and how they have used their skills to help address public health issues.^{14,52,98,107,148,171} For example, Lubogo et al. and Mutabaruka et al. discuss the Epidemiology Network and Field Epidemiology Training Program in countries in East and West Africa.
- 4. Training Duration: In high- and upper-middle income countries, training duration ranged from one day to several months. Evans et al. describe a complex humanitarian emergency certificate for Master of Public Health students at the Rollins School of Public Health that consists of two foundational courses, one advanced course, and six electives, and participation in a field practicum or several simulation exercises. Parrish et al. describe a bioterrorism training aimed at medical students that took place in 18 hours over four days. In low- and lower-middle income countries, training duration ranged from two days to two years. Ntahobakurira et al. describe in-person training of health professionals in Rwanda through a two-year field epidemiology and laboratory training program. Jones-Konneh et al. describe in-person training of health care workers in Sierra Leone, which provided two tiers of training based on the experience of the trainees. Clinicians without experience in infection prevention and control (IPC) or personal protective equipment (PPE) received three days of clinical IPC training and two days of simulated patient exercises at a mock Ebola treatment unit (ETU). Clinicians with IPC and PPE experience received one day of clinical IPC training and two days of simulated patient exercises at a mock Ebola treatment unit (ETU).

Citation	Training Topic	Training Method(s)	Key Focus and/or Findings
Abraham et al. (2012)⁵	Bioterrorism	Exercise (Tabletop)	Presents five realistic preparedness tabletop scenarios for rural health professionals.
Andress (2003) ¹⁴	Smallpox	Exercise (Tabletop)	Exercises involving community to proactively plan a mass vaccination response to a smallpox threat.
Evans et al. (2016) ⁵²	Complex Emergency	Exercise; Instruction (Lecture)	University-based focus on emergency response training for undergraduate students and continuing professionals.
Grant et al. (2007) ⁶⁵	Mass Casualty Incident	Exercise (Simulation); Instruction (Lecture, Hands-on)	When conducting a joint exercise with civilian and military responders, pretraining is key for familiarity with different terminology, equipment, and systems.
Heinrichs et al. (2010) ⁶⁹	Mass Casualty Incident	Exercise (online Virtual Emergency Department (VED) simulation)	Case studies of online training with virtual reality simulation systems for health care teams working in high-stress environments.
Heinrichs et al. (2008) ⁷⁰	Mass Casualty Incident	Instruction (online); Exercise (Simulation Virtual Emergency Department (VED))	Virtual emergency department simulations provide practice opportunities to staff working in rural or isolated areas.
Jones-Konneh et al. (2017) ⁷⁷	Ebola Virus	Exercise (Skill stations, Simulation); Instruction (Lecture)	National Ebola Training Academy was established to provide modules and realistic simulations for frontline health workers in Ebola treatment centers.
Leow et al. (2012) ⁹²	Mass Casualty Incident	Exercise (Tabletop); Instruction (Lecture)	Tabletop exercises to review triage and trauma principles. An example of a low-cost MCI tabletop exercise is the Emergo Train System.
Lescano et al. (2007) ⁹³	Infectious Disease	Instruction (Lectures, readings, case studies/group work)	In-person instruction offered upon request from host country that uses lectures, readings, case studies, and group work to provide steps to enhance preparedness for future epidemics.
Logue et al. (2017) ⁹⁸	Ebola Virus	Exercise (demonstration and practice); Instruction (Lecture, eLearning module)	e-learning module also used as a refresher training for volunteers deploying to do lab work in Ebola treatment units.
Lubogo et al. (2014) ^s	⁹⁹ Ebola Virus	Not Specified	Professional training program emphasizing the one health approach in solving public health issues.
May et al. (2007) ¹⁰²	Infectious Disease	Exercise (Simulation); Instruction (Lecture)	It is recommended that a three-hour simulation-based workshop on outbreak preparedness be incorporated into medical education curricula.
Monday et al. (2011) ¹⁰⁷	Infectious Disease	Exercise (field practice and experience); Instruction (Lectures)	FETP and FELTP programs provide ideal platforms to integrate the One Health approach.

 Table 4: Training Implementation Articles: Topics, Methods, and Key Focus and/or Findings (n=38)

Morrison et al. (2010) ¹⁰⁹	Public Health Emergency	Exercise (Simulation)	This public health emergency preparedness simulation exercise of infectious disease outbreaks can be a useful learning strategy at other educational institutions and can be easily replicated.
Moulsdale et al. (2014) ¹¹⁰	Poliovirus	Exercise (Tabletop exercise)	Countries that participated in the exercises are generally prepared for potential poliovirus introduction, and the exercises helped identify strengths and weaknesses in preparedness.
Mutabaruka et al. (2011) ¹¹³	Infectious Disease	Exercise (In-the-field mentored training); Instruction (Lecture)	Description, structure and achievements of the West African Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program (FELTP).
Narra et al. (2017) ¹¹⁵	Ebola Virus	Exercise (Clinical simulation); Instruction (Lecture)	Safety principles and practices for health workers caring for Ebola-infected patients. In- person instruction course was turned into a web-based toolkit.
Nsubuga et al. (2011) ¹¹⁷	Infectious Disease	Exercise (Field experience); Instruction (Lecture)	Development and implementation of an 8-step, standardized process to establish FELTPs in sub- Saharan Africa.
Ntahobakurira et al. (2011) ¹¹⁸	Infectious Disease	Exercise (Field experience); Instruction (Lecture)	Description, structure and achievements of Rwanda's FELTP.
Otto et al. (2011) ¹²⁴	Infectious Disease	Exercise (Tabletop); Instruction (Course, Workshop)	Description of training initiatives and lessons learned by the Armed Forces Health Surveillance Center, Division of Global Emerging Infections Surveillance and Response System (AFHSC-GEIS).
Pande et al. (2017) ¹²⁸	Tuberculosis	Instruction (Lecture)	Description of a smartphone application that provides clinicians with information about tuberculosis.
Parrish et al. (2005) ¹²⁹	Bioterrorism	Exercise (Simulation); Instruction (Lecture)	Description of a scenario-based experiential component in a course for medical students on leadership in disaster response.
Pattillo et al. (2003) ¹³¹	Mass Casualty Incident	Exercise (Tabletop); Instruction (Lecture)	Describes organizational and peer support, personal skills, and connections as crucial components to developing a disaster nursing course.
Pfenninger et al. (2010) ¹³³	All Hazards	Exercise (Simulation); Instruction (Lecture)	14-module medical disaster education course template comprising 2-hour units.
Pryor et al. (2006) ¹³⁵	Mass Casualty Incident	Exercise (Tabletop); Instruction (Lecture)	Tabletop exercise to increase WMD disaster and response capabilities among healthcare administrators.
Rajasingham et al. (2011) ¹³⁷	Cholera	Instruction (Training manual)	Train-the-trainer materials to respond to the cholera outbreak in Haiti.

Rega et al. (2014) ¹³⁸	Infectious Disease	Exercise (Tabletop)	Series of lectures culminating in a 2.5-hour tabletop exercise.
Sisler et al. (2016) ¹⁴⁸	Infectious Disease	Exercise (Simulation); Instruction (Multimedia, Self-study)	Includes quick reference, one-page guides to help healthcare workers' knowledge of emerging infectious diseases.
Stehling-Ariza et al. (2017) ¹⁵²	Infectious Disease	Not specified	
Streichert et al. (2005) ¹⁵⁴	All Hazards	Exercise (Tabletop); Instruction (Multimedia, Self-study)	One-week course using problem-based learning to foster cross-disciplinary communication.
Tauxe et al. (2011) ¹⁵⁸	Cholera	Instruction (Lecture, Multimedia)	Train the trainer program for cholera outbreak in Haiti.
Waxman et al. (2017) ¹⁶²	Mass Casualty Incident	Exercise (Simulation)	Tool to use immediate bed availability as a measure of preparedness in emergency departments.
Weiner et al. (2006) ¹⁶³	Mass Casualty Incident	Instruction (Multimedia)	Training modules were designed using a "How People Learn" framework, which begins with a challenge, followed by questions.
Weiner (2006) ¹⁶⁴	Mass Casualty Incident	Exercise (Simulation)	Examples of low, moderate and high-fidelity simulations to address emergency preparedness and response competencies for nurses.
Weiner (2006) ¹⁶⁵	Complex Emergency	Not specified	Competency-based emergency preparedness and response education curricula for nursing students are widely available, but could be enhanced if they were provided through a centralized clearinghouse.
Westphal et al. (2005) ¹⁶⁶	Bioterrorism	Instruction (Multimedia)	A web-based interactive and user-friendly course that provides instruction in bioterrorism and emergency preparedness using real case studies.
Williams et al. (2017) ¹⁶⁸	Complex Emergency	Exercise; Instruction (Lecture, Multimedia)	Incorporates both didactic and participatory training to focus on climate change in humanitarian response training.
Zotti et al. (2016) ¹⁷¹	Reproductive Health	Exercise (Simulation); Instruction (Self-study)	Description of online course, tools, and resources for reproductive health in emergency preparedness and response.

E. Results: Training Evaluation

E.1 Overview

Our review identified 83 articles that were evaluations of rapid response training curricula. Articles selected for this category included some kind of structured evaluation of training impact and effectiveness, focusing on content knowledge, skills acquisition, or both. Key characteristics of the evaluation articles are summarized in Table 5 below.

The majority of these training evaluations were conducted in AMRO (n=58, 69%)^{1-4,6,7,10,13,18-20,24,27,30,39,42,44,47,53-58,60,62,67,80-84,86-88,91,97,103,114,119,122,126,127,130,136,140,142-147,150,156,157,159,160,167 while EURO accounted for the second largest region (n=16, 18%).^{8,9,16,33,51,68,72,73,78,89,90,106,108,116,132,141} The remaining evaluation articles were regionally represented in descending order: AFRO (N=5)^{23,31,32,125,149}, SEARO (N=1)⁸⁵, WPRO (n=2)^{22,169} and EMRO (N=1)¹⁵³. The vast majority of the evaluation articles focused on high-income county settings (n=75, 90%)^{1-4,6-10,13,16,18-20,24,27,30,33,39,42,44,47,51,53,58,60,62,67,68,72,73,78,80-84,86-91,97,103,106,114,116,119,122,126,127,130,132,136,140,142-147,150,153,156,157,159,160,167,169 that included 58 articles published in the United States (n=58, 68%).^{1-4,7,10,13,18-20,24,27,30,39,42,44,47,53-58,60,62,66,67,80-84,86-88,91,97,103,114,119,122,126,127,130,136,140,142-147,150,156,157,159,160,167,169 that included 58 articles were distributed by country income level in descending order: mixed/multiple (n=3)^{32,108,141}, upper-middle income (n=2)^{31,85}, lower-middle income (n=1)¹²⁵ and low-income (n=2).^{23,149}}}}

The publication distribution by year was relatively equal in number between 2005-2009 (n=30, 35%)¹⁻ 4,6,18,22,27,31,39,44,47,57,58,81,82,88,89,97,106,116,119,132,136,140,142,143,147,156,159 and 2015-2018 (n=28, 34%)^{7,16,19,23,32,33,51,53,55,56,60,67,68,78,80,85,108,125-127,130,145,146,153,160,167,169} with fewer publications between 2010-2014 (n=20, 24%)^{8-10,13,30,62,72,73,83,84,86,87,90,91,103,114,122,141,144,149,157} and the fewest conducted between 2000-2004 (n=5, 5%).^{20,24,42,54,150} Out of the 85 articles, mass casualty incident (n=31, 36%)^{7,13,16,19,20,22,30,33,62,67,68,72,73,78,80,81,83,85,87,90,108,116,119,127,132,142,144,145,157,167,169} and bioterrorism (n=14, 16%)^{1,18,24,42,54,82,88,89,97,122,140,147,156,159} training evaluations accounted for the two dominant content categories and collectively accounted for 52% of all articles.

Of the various evaluation methodologies described, the most commonly used were post-training (postonly) evaluation methodologies $(n=22\ 26\%)^{6-10,13,18,27,31,55,57,60,68,85,87,97,103,114,116,140,146,149,160}$ and pre-post evaluation methodologies (n=32, 38%).^{1-3,19,22,24,42,44,53,54,58,62,78,80,86,91,108,119,122,125-} ^{127,130,136,141,144,147,153,157,159,167} Additional methods were used including case-control $(n=1, 1.1\%)^{16}$, focus

groups (n=2, 3.6%)^{4,106}, multiple methods/a combination of methods (n=12, 14%)^{32,67,73,81,83,88,116,127,143,145,150,156}, trained observers (n=8, 9%)^{56,72,82,84,88,132,142,169}, visual analogue scale (n=1, 1.2%)⁵¹ and evaluation methodologies that were not specified (n=2, 2.3%).^{23,33}

Characteristic Category/Level Number (%) **Region of Focus** Region of the Americas (AMRO) 58 African Region (AFRO) 5 Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMRO) 1 European Region (EURO) 16 South-East Asia Region (SEARO) 1 Western Pacific Region (WPRO) 2 75 Income-level of Focal Country/Region **High-Income** Upper-Middle-Income 2 Lower-Middle-Income 1 2 Low-Income Mixed/Multiple 3 Year of Publication 5 2000-2004 2005-2009 30 2010-2014 20 2015-2018 28 **Content Topic** All Hazards 8 Bioterrorism 14 Mental Health Resilience 1 Public Health Preparedness 1 Ebola 7 Infectious Disease 13 Mass Casualty Incident 31 Influenza/Pandemic Influenza 4 MERS 1 Monkey Pox 1 MRSA and Norovirus 1 SARS 1 **Evaluation Methodology** Case-Control 1 **Focus Groups** 3 **Multiple Methods** 15 Not Specified 3 **Post-Only Evaluation** 22 Pre-Post Evaluation 33 **Trained Observer** 5 Visual Analogue Scale 1

Table 5: Characteristics of Training Evaluation Articles (n=83)

E.2 Key Findings

Below are some of the key findings from the articles on rapid response training evaluation. As with the articles on training implementation—indeed, all the articles, there were substantial differences between the high-income and upper-middle income countries, on the one hand, and low-income and lower-middle income countries, on the other hand. Out of all 83 evaluation articles, only 2 were conducted in low-income settings^{23,149} and one in low-and-middle income settings.¹²⁵ In terms of content area, the low-and-middle income country context (n=3)^{23,125,149}, rapid response training curricula were exclusively geared towards infectious diseases including Ebola (n=2)^{23,125} and unspecified infectious disease (n=1).¹⁴⁹ In evaluation articles conducted in high income county settings (n=75), the largest categories represented were mass casualty incidents (n=31)

7,13,16,19,20,22,30,33,62,67,68,72,73,78,80,81,83,85,87,90,108,116,119,127,132,142,144,145,157,167,169, bioterrorism (n=14) 1,18,24,42,54,82,88,89,97,122,140,147,156,159 and all hazards training evaluation (n=8).9,39,44,47,57,58,60,126

Out of all evaluation methodologies used in high income settings $(n=75)^{1-4,6-10,13,16,18-20,24,27,30,33,39,42,44,47,51,53-58,60,62,67,68,72,73,78,80-84,86-91,97,103,106,114,116,119,122,126,127,130,132,136,140,142-147,150,153,156,157,159,160,167,169$, the most common evaluation methodologies were pre-post evaluations (n=32). $^{1-3,19,22,24,42,44,53,54,58,62,78,80,86,91,108,119,122,125-127,130,136,141,144,147,153,157,159,167}$ and post-training evaluation (post-only) methodologies (n=24). $^{6-10,13,18,27,31,55,57,60,68,85,87,97,103,114,116,140,146,149,160}$ Out of the evaluation articles that were from low and low-middle income country settings $(n=3)^{23,125,149}$, a post-only evaluation methodology was used $(n=1)^{149}$, pre-post methodologies were used $(n=1)^{215}$, and an evaluation methodology was not specified (n=1).²³

 Pre-Post Evaluation The most common type of evaluation method found in the literature were prepost evaluation methodologies (n=33, 38%).<sup>1-3,19,22,24,42,44,53,54,58,62,78,80,86,91,108,119,122,125-127,130,136,141,144,147,153,157,159,167 Pre and post-surveys, exams and assessment lists were common ways to test the effectiveness of a training on individual participants.^{53,54,122,144,147,167} The use of these surveys to measure knowledge, confidence levels and skill acquisition was noted for its costeffectiveness and transferability to lower resources settings.^{3,122,167} In the use of an online gaming simulation used to evaluate readiness for bioterrorism and emergencies, both pre and post-surveys were administered to affiliates of the Minnesota School of Public Health to test specific competencies.¹²² This was shown to be an easily administered evaluation methodology which could
</sup>

allow for a measurable comparison of gained competencies, increased sense of confidence in responding to emergencies and elements of trainings which were not easily absorbed by participants.¹²² Tauxe et al. (2011) noted that pre-post surveys helped reveal strengths and weakness in their trainings which could help establish improved versions. ¹⁵⁸ In an emergency response and disaster medicine training drill, a group of medical students were tested with pre-post surveys to gauge changes in their ability to triage 100 inflatable mannequins in a mass casualty incident training exercise. ¹⁴⁴

Citation	Training Topic	Key Focus and/or Findings	
Abatemarto et al. (2007) ¹	Bioterrorism	Pre-test and post-test data showed statistically significant changes in knowledge about protective factors and protocol, self-perceptions of skill levels, and behaviors.	
Ablah et al. (2007) ³	Infectious Disease	Pre-post survey results showed significant improvements in ability to participate in rapid responses to infectious disease and ability to identify the need for surge capacity.	
Ablah et al. (2008) ²	Infectious Disease	Pre-post survey results showed increased knowledge in the post surveys which were administered immediately after the training. Unfortunately, improvements were not unilateral in all topical areas with awareness of zoonotic diseases standing out as the weakest category.	
Bank & Khalil (2015) ¹⁹	MCI	Surveys on knowledge and confidence were conducted before and after the trainings. These showed improved knowledge and confidence which was retained after 6 months of training.	
Bartley et al. (2007) ²²	MCI	A pre and post knowledge assessment survey was developed to determine disaster plan knowledge before and after the video was watched. This study recommended the use of educational videos in disaster preparedness training.	
Beaton & Johnson (2002) ²⁴	Bioterrorism	A questionnaire was developed to evaluate the effectiveness of the training based on the responses of a pilot questionnaire which helped identify specific training objectives and content areas. The questionnaire was determined to have concurrent validity and be a sufficiently sensitive measure of testing skill acquisition.	
Buso et al. (2005) ³¹	Infectious Disease	Assessments were administered before and after participation to assess skill acquisition and satisfaction levels among participants. Further epidemiology training was recommendation from participant feedback.	
Chandler et al. (2008) ³⁹	All Hazards	The instructional development process included creating pre and post- test assessments which took an average of 10 minutes to complete. Results of the study indicated high levels of satisfaction with the blended training methodology.	
Chung et al. (2004) ⁴²	Bioterrorism	Pre and post tests were administered after medical residents participated in a bioterrorism lecture. Participants were re-tested after 6 months to assess skill retention. This study found that providing physicians with	

 Table 6: Pre-Post Training Evaluation Articles: Topics, and Key Focus and/or Findings (n=32)

Collander et al. (2008) ⁴⁴	All Hazards	bioterrorism training through simulations and access to a website did not increase preparedness. Pre and post-test trainings were conducted to assess participant attitudes and skill acquisition. Post-test training scores compared to baseline showed this to be an effective method.
Ferranti et al. (2016) ⁵³	Ebola	Pre and post-test assessments were used to assess changes in confidence and knowledge retention. Surveys were linked to specific participant ID numbers and participants that made improvements were acknowledged. This methodology was found to be effective in nursing schools to provide comprehensive, rapid response trainings to infectious disease outbreaks.
Filoromo et al. (2003) ⁵⁴	Bioterrorism	Comparison between pre and post tests showed improvements in clinician confidence to respond to bioterrorism incidents.
Fox et al. (2008) ⁵⁸	All Hazards	A 10 question pre-test established baseline levels of knowledge among participants. After an 80-minute discussion and presentation, individuals were tested again for comparison to baseline. Recommended periodic re- trainings for health professionals to be sufficiently prepared for an emergency.
Glow et al. (2013) ⁶²	MCI	When participants pre and post test scores were compared, the exercise showed to increased skills and also yielded recommendations for additional periodic refresher trainings.
Jonson et al. (2017) ⁷⁸	MCI	Nurses that participated in the simulation exercises completed pre and post-tests. These tests showed that simulation exercises were effective, but further research is necessary to determine how often retraining should occur.
Kim et al. (2017) ⁸⁰	MCI	Online pre and post tests were administered to determine leadership, team development, skill acquisition and qualitative feedback. Improvements were observed in participants, but additional research is needed to demonstrate sustainability.
Leaming et al. (2013) ⁸⁶	Pandemic Influenza	Hospital staff took pre-post assessments to determine the effectiveness of a simulation based training. Communication and supply availability were determined to be the two weakest areas in the hospital environment.
Lee et al. (2014) ⁸⁷	MCI	Pre and post-test trainings were given to first responders including PCPs, police and fire trainees. While all groups saw increased knowledge, differences in the first responders' baseline knowledge affected their overall performance and the level of skill acquisition.
Leonard et al. (2012) ⁹¹	Infectious Disease	Pre and post-tests scores were compared for students that participated in an infectious disease education module. Performance showed increased knowledge between the 2 tests and validated a hybrid form of teaching methods.
Montan et al. (2015) ¹⁰⁸	MCI	Brief forms were given to participants before the training was conducted and compared to post-training form scores through a coding system. This study recommended the use simulation like tools to increase the efficacy of skill retention.
O'Brien et al. (2009) ¹¹⁹	All Hazards	Pre and post-test scores were evaluated to measure the impact of PREPARE training courses in the efficacy of disaster planning. The combined style of train-the-trainer, tabletop exercises and multimedia instruction were found to be effective.

Olson et al. (2010) ¹²²	Bioterrorism	The effectiveness of the gaming simulation exercise was evaluated through a comparison of pre and post-test results. Results indicated that significant improvements were seen in participants.
Otu et al. (2016) ¹²⁵	Ebola	Pre and post-test quantitative surveys were administered to health workers to measure knowledge, attitude and practice measures. Only modest gains were measured.
Owens et al. (2017) ¹²⁶	All Hazards	Students completed online pre and post-tests online. This 1-day training was found to be an effective means to quickly increase capacity for a large number of people to respond to health emergencies.
Pate et al. (2016) ¹³⁰	Infectious Disease	Tests administered before and after the training focused on willingness to participate in the exercise, baseline level of preparedness, and the specific role of pharmacists in emergencies among pharmacy students. This study revealed that tabletop exercises may increase knowledge, skills and protocol adherence among pharmacy students.
Quiram et al. (2005) ¹³⁶	Infectious Disease	Seven focus areas were assessed in pre and post-test assessments to evaluate the efficacy of increasing collaborative skills in a healthcare worker audience. This multidisciplinary approach was found to be effective and dissemination to a national audience was recommended.
Reynolds et al. (2014) ¹⁴¹	Monkeypox	Pre and test-test surveys were administered to garner both qualitative feedback from participants and to assess skill acquisition. Surveillance skills increased among healthcare workers and similar training models were recommended for resource poor settings.
Scott et al. (2009) ¹⁴⁴	MCI	Fourth year medical students were evaluated with a pre and post-test scoring system which examined students' ability to apply the training concepts. While this training was found to be effective among students, further research was recommended to identify key competencies in disaster response.
Silenas et al. (2008) ¹⁴⁷	Bioterrorism	Identical pre and post-training tests were administered to participants. Improved scores across multiple professional categories validated this form of training as an effective, low-cost means of improving multiple skills that are important in disaster response across professional disciplines.
Stirling et al. (2015) ¹⁵³	MERS	Surveys were given to participants beforehand to assess baseline knowledge of MERS. Additional surveys were administered periodically to measure knowledge and assess acquisition of knowledge. This was found to be effective in reducing disease transmission from healthcare workers.
Swartzentruber et al. (2014) ¹⁵⁷	MCI	Pre-post tests were administered online to assess provider knowledge, EPT skills, and confidence using a simulation. Participants scored higher after the trainings which led the study to endorse simulation.
Terndrup et al. (2005) ¹⁵⁹	Bioterrorism	Identical pre and post tests were taken before administration of the educational materials via screensaver and website deployments. There were significant increases in the post test scores and screensavers and web materials were found to be effective in knowledge acquisition.

2. Post-Only Evaluation The second largest evaluation methodology category used were the post-training (post-only) methodologies without any additional evaluation (n=22, 26%)⁶⁻ ^{10,13,18,27,31,55,57,60,68,85,87,97,103,114,116,140,146,149,160} Post-only evaluation methodologies used exams, surveys, checklists and forms the address skill acquisition, participant confidence, and gain qualitative feedback. Some studies attempted to measure preparedness through post-surveys only with no pre-survey component and interviews to determine the level of preparedness for individuals who had completed trainings.^{9,160} This methodology was also cited to have serious limitations due to lack of information and research on what constitutes preparedness and how it can be measured, but was found to be effective in gaining feedback from participants on their experience with the training.^{9,18} A University of Florida study attempted to evaluate the effectiveness of training emerging infectious disease researchers and one health professionals to participate in rapid responses to disease outbreaks.¹⁶⁰ The post-only survey methodology was helpful in identifying the participants' perceived value of including a fieldwork component in combination with online training.¹⁶⁰ Adini et al. (2015) noted the usefulness of the post-only evaluation in critiquing participant decision making processes, but questioned the sensitivity of this evaluation method.⁷

Citation	Training Topic	Key Focus and/or Findings
Abrahamson et al. (2006) ⁶	SARS	Educators reviewed post-training evaluation surveys which were filled out by participants. These surveys were meant to identify any concerns that participants had about their own preparedness, but did not assess for specific skills.
Adini et al. (2012) ⁹	All Hazards	An evaluation tool was created through the Delphi method with a group of experts. The tool was tested in a pilot study and the results of the evaluation tool were reviewed by experts from the Ministry of Health for feedback to participants.
Adini et al. (2012) ⁸	Influenza	A detailed check list was used to evaluate participants' perceived quality of the training on a scale from 1-6 in key content areas. This training recommended developing a more rigorous evaluation tool to determine the effectiveness of the training rather than merely reviewing how participants rated their experiences and perceived aptitudes in key content areas.
Aiello et al. (2011) ¹⁰	Influenza	Feedback session surveys provided a scale from 1-5 for level of agreement with statements about training. Participants strongly agreed that they were able to more confidently respond to an influenza outbreak.
Andreatta et al. (2010) ¹³	MCI	A post-test was administered 2 weeks are the completion of the training and participants were found to have increased levels of confidence and skill acquisition from this training.

Table 7: Post-Only Training Evaluation Articles: Topics, and Key Focus and/or Findings(n=20)

Baldwin et al. (2005) ¹⁸	Bioterrorism	The evaluation methodology was designed to total the number of staff members that participated in the training. The training modules scored participants after completion. This study found that intranet systems were an effective way of training health department staff.
Brahmbhatt et al. (2009) ²⁷	Infectious Disease	A 36 item questionnaire was administered to determine preparedness after the training was completed. These findings underscored the necessity and effectiveness of pre-disaster training to best equip responders.
Dausey et al. (2007) ⁴⁷	All Hazards	Post training evaluations were conducted through after action reported which were designed to underscore lessons learned and critique the design of the table top exercise. Follow up trainings were recommended to help retain skills.
Foote et al. (2017) ⁵⁵	Ebola	After action reports were used to acquire qualitative data on participant feedback on specific thematic areas that were used to improve future trainings. Recommendations included the development of specific validated metrics to establish a more robust and reliable validation process.
Fowkes et al. (2007) ⁵⁷	All Hazards	Evaluation tools were used to collect data on participants' educational backgrounds and demographic information in addition to qualitative feedback on the quality of the trainings' content and presenters.
Gardner et al. (2016) ⁶⁰	All Hazards	An after-action review acquired qualitative data 1 week after training was completed. This report revealed that the most important practices to reduce among clinicians were communication lapses and inappropriate triaging of patients in medical emergencies.
Haverkort et al. (2016) ⁶⁸	MCI	The exercises were analyzed using an established standardized protocol known as the Protocol for Reports from Major Accidents and Disasters. This process revealed that the exercise increased the hospital's preparedness.
Kuhls et al. (2017) ⁸⁵	MCI	A post-training assessment was administered to assess confidence among participants to respond to MCI incidents. All participants saw improvements, but this training was found to be especially effective for nurses and active duty military.
Lennquist et al. (2014) ⁹⁰	MCI	After participants completed the simulation model, they were scored on the accuracy of their performance on a scale of 1 to 5. Participants were found to have increased knowledge and skills in key areas in responding to major incidents. Communication was found to be the most challenging area.
Livet et al. (2005) ⁹⁷	Bioterrorism	An after training evaluation methodology among public health professionals revealed that 99% of participants found the training to be useful and felt an increased level of confidence.
McCabe (2012) ¹⁰³	Mental Health Resilience	A post training evaluation methodology was administered to faith based groups to assess their confidence in responding to mental health issues in disaster scenarios. Confidence and attitudes were increased among participants.
Reid et al. (2005) ¹⁴⁰	Mental Health Resilience	Participants felt an increased sense of confidence in their ability to increase mental health resilience in individuals affected by

		hurricanes. This was determined through web-based surveys that assessed knowledge and skills.
Siddle et al. (2016) ¹⁴⁶	Ebola	Participants took an online web survey to assess knowledge of Ebola. This study found that disease specific training helped to increase the accuracy of participants' knowledge about infectious disease.
Sow et al. (2010) ¹⁴⁹	Infectious Disease	Health district personnel were evaluated after the training occurred in key performance areas. This training was found to be effective, but feedback was recommended for participants. Reliable communication and simplified reporting were identified as key areas for improvement.
Valentine et al. (2015) ¹⁶⁰	Infectious Disease	Post assessment surveys were administered to participants to gain feedback from the training experience in addition to key pedagogical outcomes. Confidence and skills gained were assessed and demographic information was also gathered.

3. Trained Observer and Other Evaluation Methodologies Trained observers (n=5,

6%)^{56,72,82,84,88,132,142,169} were used to evaluate the efficacy of training programs. In a study by Klein et al. in 2005, a group of experienced observers proved to be an effective methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of a rapid response exercise with the guidance of a pre-established_evaluation protocol.⁸² In a bioterrorism tabletop exercise, hospitals and health departments participated in this training which was evaluated by trained observers. ⁸²Each observer had extensive data collection experience and had participated in the training being utilized. ⁸²Throughout the training, the observers collected data which they later compiled into summary reports to present findings on the effectiveness of the training outcomes in team debriefing sessions. ⁸²In a study by Pelaccia et al. (2009), trained observers monitored participants to assess triage performance in a mass casualty incident training for a group of medical students and healthcare workers by creating detailed performance reports. ¹³²

Citation	Training Topic	Evaluation Method(s)	Key Focus and/or Findings
Ablah et al. (2008) ⁴	Infectious Disease	Focus Group	Training was evaluated with focus groups to discuss the usefulness of the format, ways to improve the exercises for future use and efficacy of the exercise objectives. Participants indicated that they felt more confidence in improved skill levels in each target area.
Adini et al. (2015) ⁷	MCI	Focus Groups	The evaluation tool that was used in this training was highly informal and based off of feedback from participants in focus group style conversations concerning perceived confidence in their decision making processes during an MCI event. Future studies recommended applying this training methodology in other emergency contexts outside of MCI settings
Badiali et al. (2017) ¹⁶	MCI	Case-Control	The case and control groups were compared by differences in what percentage of at-risk patients were correctly identified for their appropriate triage categories. The group that received training correctly identified a higher percentage of at-risk patients
Foote et al. (2017) ⁵⁶	Infectious Disease	Trained Observers	Trained observers used a standardized evaluation guide to assess specific skills including adherence to protocols, speed of processing patients, infection control activities and adherence to key preventative procedures.
Klein et al. (2005) ⁸²	Bioterrorism	Trained Observers	Trained observers assessed for specific competencies. Further research was recommended to develop news tools to make the trained observer evaluation process more objective.
Klima et al (2012) ⁸³	MCI	Trained Observers	Trained observers rated hospital staff performance based on communication, command structure, decontamination, staffing and patient tracking. While this training was found to be effective, communication was the most deficient area and additional training was recommended.
Kohlhoff et al. (2012) ⁸⁴	Pandemic Influenza	Trained Observers	The drill's ability to increase general facility preparedness was assessed with the help of trained observers who scored participants on forms. The form used by the observers was found to be effective in identifying training weaknesses and producing recommendations to improve the training.
Mikkelsen et al. (2008) ¹⁰⁶	MRSA and Norovirus	Focus Groups	Nursing students participated in focus groups after infectious disease response trainings focused on MRSA and norovirus. Feedback predominantly reflected a sentiment that simulations were effective in increasing confidence and awareness of how to respond to health emergencies.
Pelaccia et al. (2009) ¹³²	MCI	Trained Observers	Trained observers reported observations as healthcare students participated in the simulation. This exercise was found to be effective in improving triage performance and validated simulations as an effective means to train healthcare students.

Table 8: Other Training Evaluation Articles: Topics, Methods, and Key Focus and/or Findings (n=10)

Ruter et al. (2007) ¹⁴²	MCI	Trained Observer	A pre-established template was used to evaluate participants during the training process. Simulations were found to improve preparedness for mass casualty incidents. A logging system was recommended for identifying and improving poor performance areas.

4. Multiple Methods Combined methods were found to be effective in evaluating training outcomes in studies that used more than one evaluation method (N=15, 18%).^{30,32,67,73,81,83,88,116,127,143,145,150,156} Burke et al. (2014) found that using multiple methods allowed for them to acquire different kinds of information in the evaluation process.³⁰ This study used surveys and interviews to assess skill acquisition and improvements, but also to garner quantitative and qualitative feedback for participants.³⁰ Trained observers were also used to tailor the quantitative assessment of each participant and provide tailored supplemental education.³⁰ A study by Spinello and Fischbach (2004) used a combination of focus groups and surveys in their evaluation process.¹⁵⁰ The focus groups allowed for qualitative feedback from a group of undergraduate student participants while the survey helped assess quantitative aptitudes.¹⁵⁰ Summerhill et al. (2008) used both case-control and pre-post survey evaluations to assess the acquisition of quantitative skills for participants vs. non-participants in addition to skills acquired by participants.¹⁵⁶ Studies that used multiple evaluation methods were able to acquire different kinds of data for different purposes and to increase the level of certainty of a training's effectiveness.

Citation	Training Topic	Evaluation Ke Method(s)	ey Findings
Burke et al. (2014) ³⁰	MCI	Surveys; Interviews; Trained Observers	Participants provided both qualitative and quantitative feedback about their perceptions of the efficacy of the exercise. Trained observers also provided qualitative feedback and recommendations for participants. The study found that this exercise enhanced the participants' ability to care for children in MCI attacks. The qualitative feedback component was helpful in assessing the strengths and weaknesses of the training.
Caceres et al. (2017) ³²	Ebola	Pre-Post; Focus Groups	A pre-post methodology was used to compare baseline and post-training surveillance skills. A focus group was conducted to determine the quality of the content and surveillance reports used. An additional follow up assessment was conducted 6 months after the training.

Table 9: Multiple Method Training Evaluation Articles: Topics, Methods, and Key Focus and/or	-
Findings (n=16)	

Eardley et al. (2016) ⁵¹	Ebola	Visual Analogue Scale; Post-Only	A visual analogue scale was used to provide a more granular gradation of skill acquisition which is similar to a Likert scale. The analysis of the post-training analysis of the results showed an increase of confidence and self-reported knowledge among 80% of participants.
Hannings et al. (2016) ⁶⁷	MCI	Pre-Post; Trained Observer	Pharmacy students took pre-post surveys to assess skill acquisition. These tests revealed that participants needed additional training. Trained observers also supplemented the training with personalized feedback.
Ingrassia et al. (2013) ⁷²	MCI	Trained Observers; Case-Control	Trained observers evaluated participants during the training process and assessed to assess the accuracy of clinical abilities during this process. No differences in clinical abilities were observed in the group that received training and the group that did not. This process was helpful in critiquing the training.
Ingrassia et al. (2010) ⁷³	MCI	Post-Only; Trained Observers	The training was evaluated after its completion to assess the effectiveness of clinical maneuvers, triage and radio usage. This was found to be effective in determining the efficacy of the training in combination with trained observers.
King et al. (2006) ⁸¹	MCI	Post-Only; Trained Observers	Assessment cards were provided to participants to determine organizations skills, communication, treatment and general performance. This process helped identify weakest performance areas such as communication lapses and contributed to the recommendation of developing a standardized field documentation method.
Leiba et al. (2007) ⁸⁸	Bioterrorism	Trained Observers; Case-Control	Physicians were rated by trained observers in patient history taking, physical examination, laboratory orders and protocol adherence. Physicians who attended the lecture performed better than those who did not. This training validated the effectiveness of preparedness training in hospitals for clinicians.
Leiba et al. (2006) ⁸⁹	Bioterrorism	Trained Observers; Pre- Post	Trained observers judged the clinicians' accuracy in responding to patients that were suspected to have been exposed to anthrax. Physicians showed an improvement from the baseline pre-post testing process. This validated a combination of lectures and drills as an effective method for training clinicians.
Nambisan (2010) ¹¹⁴	MCI	Post-Only; Case- Control	Students participated in an online questionnaire that was administered after the training. Students that participated in the training scored significantly better than students that did not. Online training was found to be effective, but had a high variability in how engaged participants felt.
Nilsson et al. (2008) ¹¹⁶	MCI	Post-Only; Trained Observers	Trained observers scored participants based on managerial skills, decision making skills, and how accurately participants followed correct procedures. This came with a post-training assessment. Setting specific indicators beforehand to measure performance was key to the success of measuring efficacy.

Paddock et al. (2015) ¹²⁷	MCI	Trained Observer; Pre- post	Pre and post-test scores showed improvements among participants in this simulation exercise. This method was found to be a novel alternative to live instructor training. Future research recommended with a larger sample size and measures of long-term clinical performance.
Savoia et al. (2009) ¹⁴³	Infectious Disease	Survey; Trained Observer	An extensive survey was developed to assess leadership skills, communication, infectious disease control and prevention, and surveillance. Multiple reviewers scored these surveys and assessed performance with trained observers. This carefully constructed tool was found to effectively evaluate skill acquisition.
Shannon (2015) ¹⁴⁵	MCI	Post-Only; Trained Observers	After the completion of the response readiness course for nurses, responses were scored to assess skill acquisition. Qualitative feedback was provided to improve future trainings.
Spinello & Fischbach (2004) ¹⁵⁰	Infectious Disease	Post-Only; Focus Groups	Students completed a post-course evaluation and participated in focus groups. Feedback indicated that the simulation exercise was an effective and motivating didactic method for participants.
Summerhill et al. (2008) ¹⁵⁶	Bioterrorism	Case-Control; Pre-Post	Participants level of knowledge was superior to those in the control group. Post training assessment was conducted up to a year later which helped show that participants retained higher levels of knowledge than non-participants. Repeated trainings were recommended after 1 year.

F. Results: Training Curriculum

F.1 Overview

A curriculum is "a complete set of learning experiences, including classroom, experiential, and selfguided, that, taken altogether, achieve a desired set of competencies."³⁶ Rapid response training curricula aim to provide health care providers, local officials, public health professionals, and the public, practical skills and knowledge to minimize morbidity and mortality in the event of a manmade or natural disaster, such as an infectious disease outbreak or act of bioterrorism. Our review identified 21 articles published since January 2000 that describe rapid response training curricula, among which there was wide variation in format, length, and content (see Table 10 below).

Characteristic	Category/Level	Number (%)		
Country/region of origin:	United States	13		
	United Kingdom/Europe	6		
	Japan	1		
	Guatemala	1		
Country/region of Focus:	United States	9		
	United Kingdom/Europe	5		
	Japan	1		
	Africa	3		
	Ethiopia			
	Sierra Leone			
	Zambia			
	Guatemala	1		
	LMICs across regions	2		
Content Topic	Bioterrorism	3		
	Nuclear	1		
	Infectious disease outbreak	8		
	Unspecified	9		
Target Audience	Public health students	3		
	Medical professionals	7		
	Physician trainees*	4		
	Government workers**	4		
	Multiple or unspecified	3		
I and the second students, residents and fellows.				
**includes ministry of health staff, ep	idemiologists, local and national officials			

Table 10: Characteristics of Training Curriculum Articles (n=21)

Most training curricula studied were intended either for medical professionals, physicians in training, or public health students or professionals. One attempted to address community members as well²⁶, and two addressed government officials not specifically in public health.^{26,49} Because several curricula were intended for students or trainees, some authors saw it as desirable to integrate disaster response training into existing educational activities. Six curricula^{17,46,74,76,101,112} were thus integrated into other post-graduate training, while nine^{11,21,26,49,51,71,75,94,104} of the curricula were intended as independent educational activities. One curriculum was a hybrid,¹² with an intensive component initially and the remainder integrated into trainees' regular work responsibilities. This was done in an effort not to remove trainees from their daily responsibilities, as this program was directed at workers in the ministry of health in LMICs, who might be the only people available to carry out the responsibilities of their jobs locally and could not be taken away from their jobs for an extended period.

The duration of the stand-alone training curricula varied from 3 hours to 7 weeks, with seven under 5 days in length. Four^{71,76,94,104} comprised independent learning, with online lectures and discussion forums or lectures provided in digital format, without a specific recommended time frame. Some curricula included simulations or field experience, and multiple authors suggested that the most effective educational format would include hands-on drills. However, the most frequently-utilized formats were simply lectures, or a mix of lectures with practical exercises, usually in the form of "tabletop exercises," meaning students talk through scenarios or work through problems together in discussion format. The tabletop exercise format also provides a means of evaluation of students' understanding of the material. Of the few curricula that included a hands-on component, this largely consisted of specialized practical skills such as donning and doffing of personal protective equipment, rather than management of disaster response.

Instructional Method	Lecture only	4
	Lectures + classroom exercises	10
	Lectures + simulation or field experience	3
	Unspecified	4
Curriculum Format	Integrated	5
	Stand-alone	8
	Self-directed*	2
	Hybrid	1
	Unspecified	5
Curriculum Length (Stand-alone)	3 hours	1
	12 hours	1
	1 day	1
	2 days	1
	3 days	2
	4 days	1
	5 days	1
	7 weeks	1
	3 months	1
	Not specified	11
Content Area	Bioterrorism	3
	Infectious disease outbreak	8
	Nuclear disaster	1
	Mass casualty	1
	Disaster response	8
*online or recorded lectures on CD/DVD	only	

Table 11: Format and Contents of Training Curricula (n=21).

F.2 Key Themes and Findings

Below are some of the key themes and findings from the review of the training curriculum articles.

1) Experiential learning. There is increasing consensus that experiential learning methods are favorable and often required for acquisition and retention of complex knowledge and skills.¹⁵¹ Moye et al. found that experiential programs were "more likely to cover a broader range of topics and to teach them more frequently compared with nonexperiential programs.¹¹¹ Thus, adopting of experiential methods was a marker for overall program intensity," which they also found correlated with program funding. Although this is the most logistically challenging learning format, it may be the most essential, even if the experiential component represents only a fraction of the curriculum. Of the curricula reviewed here, only four^{76,94,101,104} are entirely lecture-based, however some research suggests that a majority of existing medical education on disaster preparedness and response does

not include an experiential component. For example, Moye et al. found that 85% of Emergency Medicine residency education on disaster response is entirely in lecture format.¹¹¹ Because of the resources needed and challenges associated with simulations and field work, many curricula are either entirely lecture based^{76,94,101,104} (4 in our review) or fulfill a hands-on component through group classroom exercises^{11,17,21,26,49,51,71,74,111,123} (10 in our review). Some examples of classroom exercises include:

- "a two-day, hands-on [tabletop] exercise [simulating an] anthrax attack in a small U.S. port city... Students were assigned to roles including mayor and staff, hospital administrators... police, EMS, and media representatives... Each student received only information relevant to his or her agency during the exercise, illustrating the importance of inter-agency communication in the event of an emergency."¹²³
- "Two different table-top simulations were implemented. The first involved a building collapse in which students were asked to triage a total of 15 victims projected on a whiteboard. The second simulation involved a chemical accident with 150 casualties. The participants had to work out the best possible strategy that would enable the emergency departments of three virtual hospitals to cope with the massive influx of contaminated victims. For this, students were given maps and an overview of hospital resources."⁷⁴
- "A scenario in which personnel arrive at a site and begin their activities thinking it is a normal fire or disaster, after which it is determined to be a CBRNE disaster. Participants discuss this in a group and place toy figures of emergency vehicles and squad members on a map of the site to understand the response."¹¹

Three of the curricula^{12,75,112} include field experience as a key component. This ranged from "field trips and seminars"¹¹² comprising a minimal portion of the curriculum, to a majority of time spent in the field:

"Residents spend about 25% of their time undergoing didactic training and the remaining 75% in the field working within the Federal Ministry of Health and Regional Health Bureaus where they investigate disease outbreaks, improve disease surveillance, respond to public health emergencies, and use health data to make recommendations on setting health policy for the nation."⁷⁵ The third curriculum including field experience was adapted to various countries, but generally included "weekly surveillance reports,... case investigation reports,... and outbreak investigation reports" using data gathered from local health facilities and authorities.¹²

Interestingly, three^{50,111,120} of the eight authors writing about non-experiential curricula recognize the need for more experiential learning through drills and simulations. As one states, "parallel to the teaching part of the programs, there is a training part, which is necessary to fully develop competencies (knowledge, skills and abilities). Both are equally important... Exercises are of paramount importance to validate, to test, and to train the plans."⁵⁰ O'Neill suggests that drills are critical to preparedness and lectures alone are not sufficient: "Staff must be educated in the plan and rehearsed regularly through table-top and simulation drills.¹²⁰ A critique of these drills should identify weaknesses and deficiencies in the institutional plan and lead to appropriate and timely revisions that should then be re-evaluated during subsequent drills." This means drills are not only critical to learning but of utmost importance in identifying and correcting issues in the response methods. The paper continues to emphasize this point: "True readiness can only be achieved by testing and modifying these plans through integrated simulation drills and tabletop exercises."¹²⁰

Furthermore, drills and simulations may prove to be feasible in LMICs as well, as the major resources needed for disaster simulations are personnel and time. Disaster simulation should be run with locally-available materials in order to best approximate a real disaster in the area. In fact, the Expert Panel on Bioterrorism Education for Medical Students recommends that didactic methods be used for early knowledge acquisition, but prefers experiential learning for integration of knowledge and skills.¹⁵ An ideal curriculum would have an initial lecture component to ensure that all trainees have the same common knowledge base, but would then focus heavily on hands-on drills and simulations for consolidation of skills and reinforcement of concepts. This model was demonstrated in a few of the included curricula:

 "The program... consists of an initial 5-day workshop introducing basic epidemiology principles and importance of disease surveillance. The participants then return to their regular job sites for 5 weeks. There, they receive onsite and remote mentoring from program staff... The participants return for a second 5-day workshop to present their work and receive feedback,... then return to the field for the second 5-week field stage to put in

practice what they have learned under the guidance of the mentors and to complete... field activities."¹²

- "Each day of the two-day course was organised into reflection and action sessions. The days started with reflection sessions introducing terms, definitions, approaches, and gave time to discuss these. The afternoons were dedicated to actions: exploring ways to put concepts into practice, testing ideas, working on scenarios related to both on-going and crisis challenges, discussing and getting feedback from others within small working groups and in the plenum."⁴⁹
- 2) Integration of curriculum to trainees' existing school or work. Although it can be argued that all members of the community should receive some level of training in disaster response, most curricula are intended for students of public health or medical professions or for professionals already working in these areas. Unless training for a specific disaster that is already underway (and only one of the articles reviewed covered this type of training⁵¹), including education in existing school curricula or job training requirements may be the best way to ensure consistent coverage of the subject. For these audiences, it may also represent an additional and unwelcome burden to require intensive courses outside of the regular school or job responsibilities. Seven articles^{17,46,74,76,101,112,123} suggest integrating disaster training into existing educational activities. This most frequently consists of additional lecture topics, but can also encompass workshops or simulation during dedicated didactics time, on-the-job mentoring by experts in the field, or field experience relevant to one's current position (for example, investigating outbreaks in one's country while working for the ministry of health).
- *3) Tailoring of curriculum to learner type and location.* Different types of learners were addressed with the curricula studied, including community members, first responders, nurses, doctors, public health professionals, government officials, and students of all types.
 - "There is a need to provide detailed training to professionals already working in a particular discipline; however, it is the people who will directly encounter [the outbreak] who can benefit the most from training and will have the greatest impact on the outcome."²⁶
 - "Training should focus on the role of the community, since not having functioning hospitals in a major disaster is a real possibility."⁹⁴

These learners all have different background knowledge and experience. In order to provide information that is both useful and comprehensible, curricula must be tailored to the intended audience, both in terms of content and learning style. "The delivery of information to all levels requires numerous trainers, and materials that can be delivered both to educated professionals and the general public."²⁶

Disaster response may also be very different depending on local resources, culture, educational level, and infrastructure. Ideally curricula should be developed or modified in concert with local experts who can ensure content is locally relevant. One successful CDC program developed a common framework that was then tailored to each country in which it was deployed.

"CDC staff visited each country and met with representatives of each MOH to describe the program and explore the value and feasibility of [the program]... [An] implementation workshop was held with key stakeholders from relevant ministries within the country and key nongovernmental partners. During the meeting, leaders and stakeholders discussed strategic elements of program implementation. [International] teams were often embedded within the MOH offices to facilitate planning and operation of the program."¹²

- 4) Repeat exposure to key topics. None of the curricula described followed up with trainees at a later date to assess retention, but evidence suggests that periodic review of educational material enhances understanding and retention of knowledge.⁷⁹ This could take the form of annual brief workshop sessions at the school or place of employment, or an annual disaster drill or simulation, for example.
 - "No specific guidelines exist to define appropriate frequency of bioterrorism education, and the wide variation suggests that residency programs are still struggling to define the appropriate frequency of this important training."¹¹¹
 - "Training must be ongoing to maintain skills and to recognize that emergency preparedness, like other academic disciplines, is not static and constantly changing as new approaches and technologies are identified... It is recommended that this focused training and practice be at least on an annual basis."⁹⁴

- 5) _Gaps in existing knowledge
 - *a)* Evaluation of efficacy. Thirteen^{11,12,17,21,26,49,51,71,74,75,111,112,123} curricula evaluated learners through table top exercises, group problem solving, or field exercises. Of the remaining curricula, two evaluated learners through written examinations at the end of the training,^{104,111} one through a final paper,¹² and one through faculty assessments of knowledge and skills.⁷⁵ Only in two instances^{71,104} were the post-training evaluations compared with pre-training assessments of baseline knowledge. None followed up at any later time to assess retention of knowledge, and none assessed the ability to apply what was learned in training to real world situations. Future curricula should aim to include an assessment tool to evaluate efficacy of training.
 - b) Curriculum development in LMICs. The vast majority of training curricula studied were initiated or carried out in high income countries. Some were developed by expert agencies in high income countries working closely with officials in LMICs. However, in future, it would be ideal to see more involvement of local experts in LMICs, including training curricula developed in those countries primarily.

G. Results: Training Recommendations

G.1. Overview

Articles including recommendations specific to training content and based upon training and evaluation methods were classified as "training recommendation" articles. Our review identified 15 articles that provided recommendations for rapid response training curricula.

Of these 15 articles, about 50% of the articles were from AMRO (n=8, 53.3%), all of which were specific to the USA. The remaining seven articles were from the EURO (n=4, 26.7%), AFRO (n=2, 13.3%), and WPRO (n=1, 6.7%). The majority of articles (n=10, 66.7%) were from high income countries, with the remaining articles from mixed income (combinations of high, middle, or low income) (n=2, 13.3%), low-income (n=2, 13.3%), and upper-middle-income (n=1, 6.7%). Publication distribution was the same for 2005-2009 and 2015-2018 (each with n=6, 40%). Fewer articles were published from 2010-2015 (n=2, 13.3%), and only one article was published from 2000-2004 (n=1, 6.7%).

Training recommendation articles covered a variety of content topics, with little overlap. Articles focused on an unspecified infectious disease (n=5, 33.3%) made up 33% of training recommendation articles. The remaining articles focused on the following topics in descending order: mass casualty incidents (n=3, 20%); Ebola (n=2, 13.3%); all hazards approach (n=1, 6.7%); bioterrorism, public health emergency (n=1, 6.7%); chemical, radiological, biological, nuclear, and explosive- CBRNe (n=1, 6.7%); infectious disease epidemics (n=1, 6.7%); and SARS (n=1, 6.7%).

More than half of the articles did not specify training format (n=9, 60%). Of those specified, the following formats were identified in descending order: mixed training formats (n=3, 20%); in-person trainings (n=2, 13.3%) and online trainings (n=1, 6.7%). Training methods were not commonly specified (n=8, 53.3%). Of those specified, simulation and tabletop exercises were most commonly employed (each with n=2, 13.3%). The remaining training methods included drill, exercise (general), and mixed (each with n=1, 6.7%).

Health professionals were the most common target audience for training recommendation articles (n=9, 60%). They were further stratified by the following designations: clinicians (n=3, 20%), public health professionals (n=2, 13.3%), first responders (n=1, 6.7%), general health professionals (n=1, 6.7%),

National Health Service employees (n=1, 6.7%), and nurses (n=1, 6.7%). Other audiences included: emergency departments (n=1, 6.7%), hospitals (n=2, 13.3%), mixed audiences (n=2, 13.3%), and unspecified audiences (n=1, 6.7%).

Characteristic	Category/Level	Number (%)
Region of Focus	Region of the Americas (AMRO)	8
	African Region (AFRO)	2
	European Region (EURO)	4
	Western Pacific Region (WPRO)	1
Income-level of Focal	High-Income	10
Country/Region	Upper-Middle-Income	1
<i>,,,</i> , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Low-Income	2
	Mixed/Multiple	2
Vear of Publication	2000-2004	1
	2000-2004	6
	2003-2003	2
	2010-2014	2
	2013-2018	D
Content Topic	All Hazards	1
	Bioterrorism; Public Health Emergency	1
	Chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear and explosive (CBRNe) emergencies	1
	Ebola	2
	Infectious Disease Epidemics	1
	Mass Casualty Incident	3
	SARS	1
	Infectious Disease	5
		2
- · · - ·	in-person	2
I raining Format	Online	1
	Mixed	3
	Unspecified	9
	Drill	1
Training Method	Exercise	1
	Exercise: Simulation	2
	Exercise: Tabletop	2
	Mixed	1
	Unspecified	8
	Clinicians	3
Audience	Emergency Departments	1
	First Responders	- 1
	Health Professionals	1
	Hornitals	⊥ 2
	nospitais	۷

 Table 12: Characteristics of Training Recommendations Articles (n=15)

Mixed	2	
National Health Service Employees	1	
Nurses	1	
Public Health Professionals	2	
Unspecified	1	

G.2. Key Focus Areas and Findings

Below are key findings from the 15 articles on training recommendations. They are divided into recommendations focusing on training content and recommendations focusing on training development and implementation.

1. Training Content

- a. Unspecified Infectious Disease: Four articles provided recommendations for unspecified infectious disease outbreak response;^{25,29,34,59} three of which focused on identifying key competencies for infection prevention and control efforts.^{25,29,34} Differing methodologies-including analysis by a national expert panel of first responders;²⁵ review and analysis of existing recommendations;²⁹ and a systematic review of literature, competencies, and objectives-³⁴ resulted in differences among the key competencies identified. Belfroid et al. identified 61 competencies across the following domains: "construction and maintenance of the outbreak preparedness plan; support for health professionals, patients and families; surge capacity; communication to the public, patients and families; coordination and collaboration; facilitators for implementation of plans; and new recommendations added.²⁵ Brouqui et al. segmented their recommendations for control of highly infectious pathogens by hospital department- e.g. recommendations specific to infection and control in an emergency department setting, in a pediatric setting, etc. Carrico et al. provided a list of seven competencies necessary for hospital-based healthcare workers.
 - *"Research and development of universal, bedside, reproducible, and transferable diagnostic tools are mandatory. Prompt reporting to the authorities is needed so that a rapid response can be organised. These measures should be accompanied by harmonised recommendations for the safe care of these unusual patients."*²⁹
- b. Mass Casualty Incidents: Three articles focused on recommendations related to mass casualty incident response.^{28,48,161} These recommendations were identified through multiple methods: a survey of nurse educators;²⁸ a questionnaire distributed to training centers;⁴⁸

and a qualitative analysis of interviews of healthcare professionals.¹⁶¹ Brannigan et al. found that training simulations were preferred over lecture, online, and video approaches for teaching mass casualty incident skills to nursing students. Walsh et al. recommends that trainings for healthcare professionals should be provided in a succinct manner to ensure that professionals are not overburdened by an unnecessary time commitment. Furthermore, trainings should be considered applicable across multiple disciplines and should be required for professionals at all levels, especially those in decision-making roles.¹⁶¹ Evaluation of disaster training programs is critical to their success,²⁸ but experts have difficulty determining effective metrics to evaluate the effectiveness.¹⁶¹

- "Preparedness-focused [health care coalitions] are logical forums for the education and training of a diverse subset of health care professionals, and they have already improved the capability of health care systems across the United States to respond to disasters."¹⁶¹
- c. Ebola: Multiple research methods were employed for identification of key recommendations from the two articles specific to Ebola response.^{105,170} McQuilkin et al. summarized lessons learned from the U.S. academic medical support (AMS) provided in Liberia during the Ebola outbreak. Particularly relevant lessons learned include the need for increased collaboration between local responders and AMC professionals, and the deployment of AMC personnel with relevant experience in humanitarian and/or disaster settings.¹⁰⁵ Additional recommendations for collaboration were identified by Yeskey et al., who stressed the need for collaboration with stakeholders to address barriers related to responder health and the high rate of responder turnover.¹⁷⁰
 - "[Academic medical support centers] have valuable resources to offer in humanitarian crises, including the ability to leverage funding and faculty members with expertise and experience in basic and clinical sciences."¹⁰⁵
 - *"When the appropriate needs and resources align, AMCs, especially those with longterm relationships, can have a significant and positive impact on international humanitarian response."*¹⁰⁵
 - *"The first gap is the absence of a mechanism that integrates public health, medical, occupational health, and worker safety activities in a comprehensive approach that*

incorporates key stakeholder perspectives and provides easy-to-follow risk-based guidance.^{"170}

- *d. All Hazards:* Claudius et al. evaluated the occurrence of medical errors during an all hazards disaster response drill to determine if the quality of patient care would be preserved during a disaster. Findings from the exercise show a lack of preparation for a disaster, evident by the increase in incomplete patient charts and overall decrease in patient care; leading to recommendations for standardized documentation and care for disaster response situations.⁴³
 - *"Certainly, more standardization of documentation and care is required in the pediatric disaster setting. Prompts and algorithms have been found to improve care in areas of emergency medicine not related to mass casualty incidents."*⁴³
- *e. Bioterrorism; Public Health Emergency:* Lichtveld et al. implores disaster response professionals to incorporate lessons learned from the 2001 Anthrax attacks in bioterrorism training and planning efforts. One lesson learned was related to isolation procedures and the need for healthcare professionals to know when and how to implement these infection-control procedures.⁹⁵
 - "It is essential to know when and how to isolate or quarantine individuals or groups of people. In addition to practicing isolation procedures, public health organizations may need to direct the actions of others, such as requiring a suspected case to take body temperature twice a day...The public health and the medical community can be challenged with the need to impose restrictions on individuals while also trying to maintain necessary respect for the individual and his/her rights."⁹⁵
- f. Chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear and explosive (CBRNe) emergencies: Linney et al. identified 10 key competencies to be included in future NHS training programs. These competencies are believed to provide the NHS workforce with awareness of potential threats and strategies to plan for and respond to CBRNe emergencies, manage resources, and use equipment properly.⁹⁶ Linney et al. also stresses the importance of debriefing after an emergency to identify gaps and improve planning and response efforts for future events.⁹⁶

g. Infectious Disease: Reid et al. identified seven key guidelines for infectious disease response trainings: they should be competency-based, delivered through multiple formats, include skill-building, evidence based, provided by experts, evaluated, and should have a record keeping system built-in. The importance of evaluation was stressed, as training programs should be periodically evaluated to ensure that they are meeting the identified outcomes.¹³⁹ In terms of infectious disease epidemics, Lucey et al. recommends that "one health" be implemented in healthcare professional educational programs to ensure that the workforce can assess problems holistically.

Box 1: Guidelines for collaborative training efforts¹³⁹

- 1. The training should be competency based
- 2. The training delivery methodology should be blended
- 3. The training should include skills-building opportunities
- 4. The training should be based on the best science available
- 5. The training should be delivered by subject matter experts and experienced trainers
- 6. The training should have evaluation criteria that were consistently used for evaluating content and delivery programs
- 7. Participant records should be kept in an accessible format
- h. SARS: Chan et al. tested modular nursing practice to determine if this approach would reduce the incidence of cross-transmission of infection in hospital settings. Increased patient and family education and awareness, healthcare worker hand washing, and increased focus on continuity of care were observed- but there was no observed decrease in cross-transmission with the modular nursing approach.³⁸
 - "a supportive environment for nurses' sense of control over work demands is important to professional and personal growth and to humanistic care practices including good infection control."³⁸
 - *"the clinical importance of continuity of care should be highlighted even in acute settings with high nurse-patient ratio. The long-entrenched culture of collegiality supports teamwork and ward efficiency, but geographical separation in a general ward setting would not support it."*³⁸
- 2. Training development and implementation

- a. Standardization of methodology, definitions, and terminology: Carrico et al. suggested standardizing elements of training programs across disciplines. Additionally, rapid response training programs should be competency based, as this is considered to be most effective in preparing healthcare workers to respond to disasters.¹³⁹
 - *"Ensuring that every hospital-based health care worker is competent to prevent infection transmission is an essential element for daily practice as well as during times of emergency. The competencies and terminal objectives can be used as a step toward ensuring the readiness of hospital-based health care workforce."*³⁴
 - "Staff and advisors understood at the outset that the training had to conform to the developing trend in training in public health: the identification and use of recognized competency domains and the competencies within them. Conforming to this national movement (and established practice) would provide many benefits, including standardization, measurement of effectiveness, accountability and greater utility/applicability for organizations outside the FCPHP, including other national training centers, state agencies, and universities."¹³⁹
- b. Coordination between and among health professionals and stakeholders: Three articles emphasized the need for increased coordination between healthcare workers (across multiple disciplines) and stakeholders (at all levels) to ensure disaster response plans are comprehensive and address multiple components of response.^{25,161,170} Successful integration across disciplines and among stakeholders can be illustrated by the cooperation between AMC and local responders during the Ebola outbreak- where the AMCs provided local responders with subject matter experts and the necessary personal protective equipment (PPE) to respond to the 2014 Ebola outbreak effectively.¹⁰⁵
 - "Working in coordination with other NGOs and stakeholders who are involved in the response is vital to avoid duplication or confusion. This collaboration can best be accomplished by integrating into the framework set out by national or international leaders (e.g., members of the local ministry of health or personnel from the U.S. National Disaster Management System)."¹⁰⁵
- c. *Training of healthcare professionals across disciplines* Two articles specify the need to train all designated healthcare professionals across multiple disciplines.^{25,170} Linney et al.

recognizes that training needs differ for different types of healthcare workers and suggests that healthcare workers are broken up into groups, based on their roles, for additional training after the initial, standardized rapid response training.⁹⁶ The concept of specialized training is supported by three other articles that explain rapid response training implementation is dependent on the audience and oftentimes also varies based on the subject, or type of incident healthcare workers are being trained to respond to.^{29,34,48} Finally, rapid response training programs should be periodically evaluated to determine their effectiveness.^{34,139}

- "As the IPC competencies are translated and disseminated into educational programs and curricula, these training materials must be validated through a structured evaluation process that includes measurement of the behavioral change in the practice setting. In this way, educational content can be standardized to ensure maximum effectiveness."³⁴
- *"Each curriculum contained specific training outcomes and learning objectives that were competency based as the basis for evaluation."*¹³⁹
- d. *Cross-disciplinary training programs:* Multiple articles identified the need for rapid response training implementation across disciplines.^{25,170} Lucey et al suggests that educational training programs take a one health approach in training as this approach is thought to help healthcare professionals understand "why epidemics occur when and where they do, and also how to respond, mitigate, and sometimes prevent them."¹⁰⁰ Walsh et al. emphasizes the need for risk reduction training programs to be incorporated into the curricula of all health professional schools.
 - *"As the global population of both humans and animals grows in size, density, and proximity, the predictable potential effects of pan-epidemics could be devastating to human, animal, and environmental health. One Health can help provide an effective international antidote to such pan-epidemics."*¹⁰⁰
 - "Ultimately, a system is needed that better enables the ongoing integration of disaster-preparedness education and training into the health care professions and facilitates the sharing of knowledge and expertise among HCCs across the country."¹⁶¹

- e. *Professional training programs* Brouqui et al. emphasizes the need for specialized training for health professionals responding to disasters.²⁹ Effective responders should know their role when responding to disasters, and be equipped with the competencies necessary to respond effectively.⁹⁵ Two articles call for an increase in training and structural implementations to prepare for disasters in hospital settings.^{29,34} Of these articles, Carrico et al. specifies that these implementations should include methods to identify the knowledge and skills needed by healthcare workers responsible for responding to disasters, which are agreed upon by multiple stakeholders and regularly re-evaluated.³⁴ Furthermore, healthcare professionals should be trained in protection and control measures to ensure their health and safety during disaster response efforts.^{25,170}
 - "Infection control, worker safety, and emergency management professionals need to be better connected to manage resources, consolidate guidance, and protect worker health and safety. End-users also require a mechanism to contribute to the development of local practice and policy and into the guidance issued by federal agencies."¹⁷⁰
- f. Training Methods: A mixed methodology approach is recommended for rapid response training curricula.¹³⁹ Furthermore, this approach should place an emphasis on skill-building opportunities.¹³⁹ Simulation trainings and exercises were identified as the most effective rapid response training method for teaching the majority of skills needed for effective mass casualty event response.²⁸ Reid et al. suggests that all trainings be delivered by subject matter experts to ensure proper training content, but Brannigan et al. explains that subject experts are not always available to provide rapid response trainings in an educational setting.
 - "Staff and advisors were in agreement that the most effective training would be liveinteractive workshops delivered on-site to the participants. However, to the extent practicable, distance learning technologies would be used prior to the on-site session to allow participants to obtain basic knowledge about the topic area to enhance the workshop learning experience... It was agreed that each of the on-site trainings should have activities that allowed the participants to practice and demonstrate the skills learned didactically."¹³⁹

- "Based on findings of this study, nurse educators view simulation as an effective method for teaching MCI- preparedness skills. When compared to lecture, online education, and information transfer via video/CD, respondents indicated that simulation was the best method to teach most skills."²⁸
- g. *Continuity of care:* Brouqui et al. emphasizes the need for the standardization of protocols for patients affected by disasters, to ensure their quality and continuity of care. For example, networks of care should be established and transmission reduction measures should be implemented across disciplines during infectious disease outbreaks.²⁹ Claudius et al. highlights the current deficiencies in the documentation and quality of care provided to pediatric patients, and stresses the need to develop guidelines for the standardization of care.⁴³ Furthermore, healthcare professionals should ensure that patient records are stored in an accessible format so multiple healthcare professionals are able to access patient information during disaster response.¹³⁹ Finally, additional research is needed for the development of universal and reproducible diagnostic tools for highly infectious pathogens.²⁹
 - *"These measures should be accompanied by harmonised recommendations for the safe care of these unusual patients....Networking for the standardisation of procedures and the management of these patients is mandatory."*²⁹
 - "In our institution, we have developed a number of complaint-based documentation and order sheets that include prompts and dosing suggestions for the most common mass casualty situations as a response to the findings of this study. However, a more streamlined approach that reaches all hospitals and all providers is currently one of our greatest needs in pediatric disaster medicine."⁴³
 - *"Research and development of universal, bedside, reproducible, and transferable diagnostic tools are mandatory."*²⁹

Citation	Content Topic	Key Findings
Belfroid et al. (2017) ²⁵	Infectious Disease	Experts selected 10 key recommendations essential for outbreak preparedness.
Brannigan et al. (2006) ²⁸	MCI	Nurse educators viewed simulation trainings as the most effective method for teaching necessary skills for mass casualty incidents.
Brouqui et al. (2009) ²⁹	Infectious Disease	Special infection prevention and control training should be offered to emergency department teams.
Carrico et al. (2009) ³⁴	Infectious Disease	Six key competencies were identified and further stratified by healthcare workers' role.
Chan et al. (2008) ³⁸	SARS	Modular nursing could be more effective than convention task-focused nursing during outbreak response, but additional research and long-term implementation are needed.
Claudius et al. (2008) ⁴³	All Hazards	Standardization of documentation and care is needed in the pediatric disaster setting to reduce documentation breakdown during response.
Delooz et al. (2007) ⁴⁸	MCI	Prehospital medical care and management were identified as priority training objectives for disaster medicine response to mass casualty incidents.
Froeschl et al. (2016) ⁵⁹	Infectious Disease	Identification of likely pathogen outbreaks by region can ensure proper distribution of scarce resources, increase laboratory capacity, and inform response planning efforts in LMICs.
Lichtveld et al. (2002) ⁹⁵	Bioterrorism; Public health emergency	Three competencies were identified as necessary for public health professionals to leverage existing legal and political policies and create lasting change.
Linney et al. (2011) ⁹⁶	Chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear and explosive (CBRNe) emergencies	Experts generated ten core training competencies designed to properly prepare healthcare works to respond to acute CBRNe exposures in a hospital setting.
Lucey et al. (2017) ¹⁰⁰	Infectious Disease/ Epidemics	The concept of one health should be incorporated into medical education curricula to promote collaboration between the U.S. and international organizations that have a one health approach.
McQuilkin et al. (2017) ¹⁰⁵	Ebola	Academic medical centers can provide LMICs with the necessary expertise and supplies to properly respond to epidemics, but this coordination should be properly planned and implemented to ensure that it does not hinder response.
Reid et al. (2014) ¹³⁹	Infectious Disease	The Center for Public Health Preparedness implements seven guidelines for effective training principles and practices for the public health workforce.

 Table 13: Training Recommendation Articles: Content Topics and Key Findings (n=15)

Walsh et al. (2015) ¹⁶¹	MCI	Disaster preparedness-focused healthcare coalitions can increase the capacity of the healthcare system and healthcare workers but need stakeholder support and engagement.
Yeskey et al. (2017) ¹⁷⁰	Ebola	There are currently no sustained training programs for infectious disease outbreak response, potentially due to an overall lack in funding, complacency, or disease-specific trainings that are not easily adaptable.

H. Discussion and Conclusions

H1. Overview

This section summarizes and discusses some of the key findings from each of the four main types of articles (training implementation, training evaluation, training curriculum, and training recommendations). The section also offers some conclusions, with a particular focus on what insights this systematic review might offer to those tasked with conducting rapid response training for infectious disease outbreak in LMICs.

It is a general finding, across all types of articles, that most of the 160 publications came from and/or were focused on high-income or upper-middle income countries and that these differed in significant respects—in training content, format, and evaluation methodologies to name only a few—from the much smaller number of publications that focused on lower-middle and low-income countries. This disparity could be due to the fact that our search was limited to English, French and Spanish language publications.

Despite the disparities between higher income and lower income countries, it is our view that these differences are instructive, both in terms of what they say about the different levels of resources available, but also in terms of providing insights as to how best practices might be shared more broadly, despite the challenges faced in low resource settings.

H2. Training Implementation and Evaluation

As noted, while infectious diseases with pandemic potential threaten all countries, our review found that high income and upper-middle income countries tended to focus training efforts more on complex emergencies, bioterrorism, and mass casualty incidents than on infectious disease outbreaks. In lower-middle and low income countries, on the other hand, infectious disease was the predominant focus of training implementation. As content focus differed, so too did training formats and methods, with more extensive and complex simulations and interactive exercises being used in locations with more resources. In terms of formats, training formats that have been implemented in high- and upper-middle income countries, such as virtual emergency departments and online modules, may also be highly useful in low-resource or rural settings.

Sustainability may be a crucial aspect to consider for organizations seeking to implement trainings, if local ownership of future trainings is a desired endpoint. In the training implementation literature, sustainability focused on fiscal questions, particularly in trainings implemented in in low-income countries. Five of the seven articles that cited the Field Epidemiology Training Programs (FETP) and Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Programs (FELTP) expressed concern about the programs' longterm sustainability.^{93,124,107,113,117} To address this concern, Rwanda, Uganda, Zimbabwe, and West African FELTP programs proposed a diversification of funding sources,^{07,113,117} and Lescano et al. present alternative trainings to FETPs in the Americas that are more cost-effective and shorter in duration.

Regardless of training format, content, or duration, adequate evaluation of the training is essential. A key best practice and recommendation from the evaluations literature was the need to establish a list of key outcomes, competencies and skills that would be tested in the evaluation process for prior to conducting the training.^{8,82,116,143,169} This process can guide both the establishment of key competencies that evaluators can assess from participants, and the feedback that the administrators would like to receive from participants. While establishing a clear set of criteria to assess for in a survey was found to be effective when used in conjunction with trained observers, establishing structured, pre-set criteria for trained observers to score participants against was found to be a key best practice in limiting bias and more accurately measuring skill acquisition.^{82,116,143} While pre-post evaluations provide the benefit of measuring improvement from baseline, post-only evaluation methods were helpful in acquiring feedback which would allow for improved training development.^{9,18}

Out of the 83 evaluation articles, 15 recommended the need for re-trainings to retain key objectives just as knowledge of the specific issue, participant confidence, familiarity with protocol, and efficiency.^{19,62} Studies varied in how often they recommended periodic re-trainings, but several tested skills after 6 months or 1 year.^{2,156} Summerhill et al. (2008) recommended that skill retention began to decline after 1 year and that participants could benefit from refresher trainings.¹⁵⁶ Bank and Khalil (2016) cited that skills and confidence levels were retained by participants 6 months after the initial training and that these participants did not yet need a follow up training.¹⁹ Ablah et al. (2008) noted that participants were able to retain information 8 months after the training period, but credited this to participants reporting that they used their acquired knowledge at least one time per week.² This finding suggests that re-training intervals should be considered in the context of how frequently the participants are

applying the knowledge or skills emphasized in the training in conjunction with the participants baseline level of knowledge prior to a training.^{2,153}

H.3 Training Curriculum and Recommendations

Rapid response training curricula have been developed and studied mostly in high income countries but increasingly in LMICs, usually in partnership with established international agencies. They vary widely in format, with some integrated into existing school or job training curricula and others provided as independent workshops, most of which are relatively short in duration, generally under 5 days. The most effective curricula involve a combination of didactic lectures and interactive exercises, with drills and simulation thought to be the most effective method of learning, although also the most logistically complicated and resource intensive. Curricula should be tailored to the location and background of the learners, and there should be a method of assessment to ensure the efficacy of the curricula.

A key training recommendation calls for the development of comprehensive, ^{34,96,170} competencybased, ¹³⁹ multidisciplinary training programs^{25,170} that are easily adaptable for specific disasters^{2,4,6} and have clear outcomes that can be assessed and evaluated.^{34,139} Having a comprehensive training program could improve response efforts in LMICs because it will increase their capacity through the transfer of knowledge needed to respond to a variety of disasters and emergencies. Additionally, an established training program will not be affected by fluctuations in disaster funding¹⁷⁰ thus ensuring that limited resources remain on current, pervasive health problems in LMICs rather than on the development of highly specific response preparedness planning.⁵⁹

Froeschl et al. suggests implementing training programs and preparedness plans at all levels of the government to ensure appropriate and timely response. Additionally, development of "zonal profiles" would enable LMICs to prepare their disaster workforce to respond to likely pathogens, as familiarity with pathogens can inform preparedness planning efforts and standardized protocols.⁵⁹ Furthermore, increased cooperation among stakeholders, responders, healthcare professionals, and subject-matter experts will better inform preparedness planning efforts and ensure a coordinated response in a variety of settings.^{59,105}

H.4 Conclusions

Our systematic review of mostly English-language literature published since 2000 focused on a range of trainings, many of which might be categorized as "rapid response trainings" not necessarily because the

trainings themselves were rapid but because they focused on training personnel for rapid response either to infectious disease outbreaks, or to events such as complex emergencies, bioterrorism, and mass casualty incidents that could involve infectious disease outbreaks. Among our key findings are that there is a dearth of publications originating from and/or focusing on lower-middle income and low income countries. This is significant as one of the primary goals of the GHSA is to increase in-country capacity in LMIC settings to be able to respond to epidemics.⁶¹ While it is not necessarily the case that a lack of publications on trainings means that such trainings are not taking place, limited documentation raises a concern both about the quality and standardization of such trainings and the extent to which lessons learned are being shared.

As to the trainings themselves, the evidence suggests that the most effective trainings include a combination of didactic instruction and hands-on practice and exercises, and that the training is of sufficient duration (including re-training) to allow for in-depth learning. While the metric of what is "sufficient duration" may vary, the literature supports trainings that cover multiple days, providing opportunity for learning of content knowledge, practice of skills, and evaluation of both knowledge and skills. Effective trainings also must include robust evaluation methods to measure both knowledge and skills acquisition. These evaluation methods may vary but, ideally, they should include some measure of baseline and endline knowledge and skills, which favors a pre-post evaluation approach (as opposed to post-only methods). Finally, attention needs to be given to the implementation and sustainability of rapid response training in low-resource settings. Methods that include virtual emergency departments and online modules offer promise for application in low-resource and rural settings, though proper evaluation and more research is needed to assess their effectiveness.

One of the 11 GHSA Action Packages involved a commitment to "maintaining trained, functioning, multisectoral rapid response teams." Such a commitment requires the development, implementation, and documentation of effective rapid response training in LMICs, utilizing well-structured curricula and integrated approaches to building knowledge and skills, and incorporating robust evaluation methods to measure effectiveness. Without such training in place, the global response to infectious disease outbreak will remain compromised and lessons learned from crisis to crisis will not be shared.

I. References

 Abatemarco A, Beckley J, Borjan M, Robson M. Assessing and improving bioterrorism preparedness among first responders: A pilot study. Journal of Environmental Health. 2007;69(6):16-22.

- Ablah E, Benson L, Konda K, Tinius AM, Horn L, Gebbie K. Emergency preparedness training for veterinarians: prevention of zoonotic transmission. 2008;6(4):345-351. doi:10.1089/bsp.2008.0026
- Ablah E, Nickels D, Hodle A, et al. "Public Health Investigation": A pilot, multi-county, electronic infectious disease exercise. American Journal of Infection Control. 2007;35(6):382-386. doi:10.1016/j.ajic.2006.08.007
- Ablah E, Nickels D, Hodle A, Wolfe DJ. Public health investigation: focus group study of a regional infectious disease exercise. Public Health Nurs. 2008;25(6):546-553. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2008.00742.x
- 5. Abraham RT, Walls RT, Fischer M, et al. Tabletop scenarios for realism in bioterrorism and threat preparedness. W V Med J. 2012;108(6 PG-12-7):12-17.
- Abrahamson SD, Canzian S, Brunet F. Using simulation for training and to change protocol during the outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome. Critical Care. 2006;10(1). doi:10.1186/cc3916
- Adini B, Aharonson-Daniel L, Israeli A. Load index model: An advanced tool to support decision making during mass-casualty incidents. Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery. 2015;78(3):622-627. doi:10.1097/TA.000000000000535
- Adini B, Goldberg A, Cohen R, Bar-Dayan Y. Impact of pandemic flu training on ability of medical personnel to recognize an index case of avian influenza. 2012;22(2):169-173. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckr030
- 9. Adini B, Goldberg A, Cohen R, Laor D, Bar-Dayan Y. Evidence-based support for the all-hazards approach to emergency preparedness. Israel Journal of Health Policy Research. 2012;1(1). doi:10.1186/2045-4015-1-40
- 10. Aiello A, Khayeri MY, Raja S, et al. Resilience training for hospital workers in anticipation of an influenza pandemic. J Contin Educ Health Prof. 2011;31(1):15-20. doi:10.1002/chp.20096
- 11. Anan H, Otomo Y, Kondo H, et al. Development of Mass-casualty Life Support-CBRNE (MCLS-CBRNE) in Japan. Prehospital Disaster Med. 2016;31(05):547-550. doi:10.1017/S1049023X16000686
- 12. André AM, Lopez A, Perkins S, et al. Frontline Field Epidemiology Training Programs as a Strategy to Improve Disease Surveillance and Response. Emerg Infect Dis. 2017;23(13). doi:10.3201/eid2313.170803
- 13. Andreatta PB, Maslowski E, Petty S, et al. Virtual reality triage training provides a viable solution for disaster-preparedness. 2010;17(8):870-876. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00728.x
- 14. Andress K. A postevent smallpox mass vaccination clinic exercise. Disaster Manag Response. 2003;1(2 PG-54-8):54-58.
- 15. Association of American Medical Colleges. Training Future Physicians about Weapons of Mass Destruction: Report of the Expert Panel on Bioterrorism Education for Medical Students. Washington, DC: Association of American Medical Colleges; 2003.
- Badiali S, Giugni A, Marcis L. Testing the START Triage Protocol: Can It Improve the Ability of Nonmedical Personnel to Better Triage Patients During Disasters and Mass Casualties Incidents ? 2017;11(3):305-309. doi:10.1017/dmp.2016.151
- Baka A, Fusco FM, Puro V, et al. A curriculum for training healthcare workers in the management of highly infectious diseases. Euro Surveill Bull Eur Sur Mal Transm Eur Commun Dis Bull. 2007;12(6):E5-6.
- Baldwin K, LaMantia J, Proziack L. Emergency preparedness and bioterrorism response: Development of an educational program for public health personnel. Public Health Nursing. 2005;22(3):248-253. doi:10.1111/j.0737-1209.2005.220308.x

- 19. Bank I, Khalil E. Are Pediatric Emergency Physicians More Knowledgeable and Confident to Respond to a Pediatric Disaster after an Experiential Learning Experience? 2016;31(5):551-556. doi:10.1017/s1049023x16000704
- 20. Banner G. The Rhode Island Medical Emergency Distribution System (MEDS). Disaster Manag Response. 2004;2(2):53-57. doi:10.1016/j.dmr.2004.02.001
- 21. Bannister B, Prygodzicz A, Ippolito G. Training health care workers to face highly infectious diseases. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2009;15(8):740-742. doi:10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009.02872.x
- 22. Bartley B, Fisher J, Stella J. Video of a disaster drill is effective in educating registrars on the hospital disaster plan. EMA Emergency Medicine Australasia. 2007;19(1):39-44. doi:10.1111/j.1742-6723.2006.00916.x
- Bazeyo W, Bagonza J, Halage A, et al. Ebola a reality of modern Public Health; need for Surveillance, Preparedness and Response Training for Health Workers and other multidisciplinary teams: A case for Uganda. Pan African Medical Journal. 2015;20. doi:10.11604/pamj.2015.20.404.6159
- 24. Beaton RD, Johnson LC. Instrument development and evaluation of domestic preparedness training for first responders. 2002;17(3):119-125.
- 25. Belfroid E, Timen A, Steenbergen JEv, Huis AMP, Hulscher M. Which recommendations are considered essential for outbreak preparedness by first responders? BMC Infectious Diseases. 2017;17(1):195.

https://www.narcis.nl/publication/RecordID/oai:repository.ubn.ru.nl:2066%2F170104. doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2293-0.

- Beltran-Alcrudo D, Bunn DA, Sandrock CE, Cardona CJ. Avian flu school: a training approach to prepare for H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza. Public Health Rep Wash DC 1974. 2008;123(3):323-332. doi:10.1177/003335490812300312
- 27. Brahmbhatt D, Chan JL, Hsu EB, et al. Public health preparedness of post-Katrina and Rita shelter health staff. 2009;24(6):500-505.
- Brannigan L, Witwer S, Rudel P, Young A. Simulation education in mass-casualty incident preparedness. Clinical Simulation in Nursing. 2006;2(2):e74. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1876139909004575. doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2009.05.027.
- 29. Brouqui P, Puro V, Fusco FM, et al. Infection control in the management of highly pathogenic infectious diseases: Consensus of the European network of infectious disease. Lancet Infectious Diseases, The. 2009;9(5):301-311. https://www.clinicalkey.es/playcontent/1-s2.0-S1473309909700702. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(09)70070-2.
- Burke RV, Kim TY, Bachman SL, Iverson EI, Berg BM. Using mixed methods to assess pediatric disaster preparedness in the hospital setting. 2014;29(6):569-575. doi:10.1017/s1049023x14001137
- 31. Buso DL, Igumbor EU, Martinez JM, del Rio A. Development and organisation of an instructional course on epidemic/outbreak preparedness and response for health workers in the Eastern Cape. South African Medical Journal. 2005;95(12 l):932-937.
- 32. Caceres VM, Sidibe S, Andre M, et al. Surveillance Training for Ebola Preparedness in Cote d'Ivoire, Guinea-Bissau, Senegal, and Mali. 2017;23(13). doi:10.3201/eid2313.170299
- Carenzo L, Ragozzino F, Colombo D, Barra FL, della Corte F, Ingrassia PL. Virtual Laboratory and Imaging: an online simulation tool to enhance hospital disaster preparedness training experience. European Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2016. doi:10.1097/MEJ.00000000000421
- 34. Carrico RM, Rebmann T, English JF, Mackey J, Nones Cronin S. Infection prevention and control competencies for hospital-based health care personnel. AJIC: American Journal of Infection

Control. 2008;36(10):691-701. https://www.clinicalkey.es/playcontent/1-s2.0-S0196655308006974. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2008.05.017.

- CDC. Field Epidemiology Training Program Development Handbook. https://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/healthprotection/fetp/pdf/FETP_development_handbook_5 08.pdf. Accessed September 28, 2018.
- 36. Center for Public Health Policy Columbia University School of Nursing. Competency-to-Curriculum Toolkit. New York, NY; 2008.
- 37. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Global Health-CDC and the Global Health Security Agenda. https://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/security/ghsagenda.htm.
- Chan EA, Chung JW, Wong TK. Learning from the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) epidemic. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2008;17(8):1023-1034. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.01997.x. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.01997.x.
- Chandler T, Qureshi K, Gebbie KM, Morse SS. Teaching emergency preparedness to public health workers: use of blended learning in web-based training. Public Health Rep. 2008;123(5):676-680. doi:10.1177/003335490812300521
- 40. Christian KA, Ijaz K, Dowell SF, et al. What we are watching—five top global infectious disease threats, 2012: a perspective from CDC's Global Disease Detection Operations Center. Emerg Health Threats J. 2013;6: 20632—http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/ehtj.v6i0.20632.
- 41. Christian KA, Iuliano AD, Uyeki TM, et al. What we are watching—top global infectious disease threats, 2013-2016: An update from CDC's Global Disease Detection Operations Center. Health Security. 2017;15: 453-462. doi: 10.1089/hs.2017.0004.
- 42. Chung S, Mandl KD, Shannon M, Fleisher GR. Efficacy of an Educational Web Site for Educating Physicians about Bioterrorism. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2004;11(2):143-148. doi:10.1197/j.aem.2003.09.012
- Claudius I, Behar S, Ballow S, et al. Disaster drill exercise documentation and management: Are we drilling to standard? Journal of Emergency Nursing. 2008;34(6):504-508. doi: 10.1016/j.jen.2008.03.006.
- 44. Collander B, Green B, Millo Y, Shamloo C, Donnellan J, DeAtley C. Development of an "allhazards" hospital disaster preparedness training course utilizing multi-modality teaching. 2008;23(1):63-67; discussion 68.
- 45. Competency-to-Curriculum Toolkit. New York, NY; 2008.
- 46. Cooke FJ, Choubina P, Holmes AH. Postgraduate training in infectious diseases: investigating the current status in the international community. Lancet Infect Dis. 2005;5(7):440-449. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(05)70165-1
- 47. Dausey DJ, Buehler JW, Lurie N. Designing and conducting tabletop exercises to assess public health preparedness for manmade and naturally occurring biological threats. BMC Public Health. 2007;7:92. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-7-92
- 48. Delooz H, Debacker M, Moens G, Johannik K, SEE Partnership. European survey on training objectives in disaster medicine. European Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2007:25-31.
- 49. Dickmann P, Abraham T, Sarkar S, et al. Risk communication as a core public health competence in infectious disease management: Development of the ECDC training curriculum and programme. Euro Surveill Bull Eur Sur Mal Transm Eur Commun Dis Bull. 2016;21(14). doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2016.21.14.30188
- 50. Dubouloz M. Strengthening mass casualty management systems through training. Hum Dev Capab Assoc. 2009;40 (Supp 1):106-113.

- 51. Eardley W, Bowley D, Hunt P, Round J, Tarmey N, Williams A. Education and Ebola: initiating the cascade of emergency healthcare training. J R Army Med Corps. 2016;162(3):203-206. doi:10.1136/jramc-2014-000394
- 52. Evans DP, Anderson M, Shahpar C, Del Rio C, Curran JW. Innovation in Graduate Education for Health Professionals in Humanitarian Emergencies. 2016;31(5 PG-532-8):532–538. doi:10.1017/s1049023x16000650
- 53. Ferranti EP, Wands L, Yeager KA, et al. Implementation of an educational program for nursing students amidst the Ebola virus disease epidemic. 2016;64(6):597-603. doi:10.1016/j.outlook.2016.04.002
- 54. Filoromo C, Macrina D, Pryor E, Terndrup T, McNutt SD. An innovative approach to training hospital-based clinicians for bioterrorist attacks. American Journal of Infection Control. 2003;31(8):511-514. doi:10.1016/S0196-6553(03)00699-0
- 55. Foote M, Daver R, Quinn C. Using "Mystery Patient" Drills to Assess Hospital Ebola Preparedness in New York City, 2014-2015. 2017;15(5):500-508. doi:10.1089/hs.2016.0130
- 56. Foote MMK, Styles TS, Quinn CL. Assessment of Hospital Emergency Department Response to Potentially Infectious Diseases Using Unannounced Mystery Patient Drills - New York City, 2016. 2017;66(36):945-949. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6636a2
- 57. Fowkes V, Blossom HJ, Anderson HK, Sandrock C. Emergency preparedness for health professionals in a statewide AHEC program: The first two years. Academic Medicine. 2007;82(8):781-787. doi:10.1097/ACM.0b013e3180cc2b9c
- 58. Fox L, Timm N. Pediatric issues in disaster preparedness: meeting the educational needs of nurses-are we there yet? 2008;23(2):145-152. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2007.12.008
- 59. Froeschl G, Ntinginya NE, Sangare A, et al. Integrating local, national, and international stakeholders in outbreak preparedness in developing countries: Conclusions from a conference in Mbeya, Tanzania. Health security. 2016;14(1):29-34. http://www.liebertonline.com/doi/abs/10.1089/hs.2015.0049. doi: 10.1089/hs.2015.0049.
- 60. Gardner AK, DeMoya MA, Tinkoff GH, et al. Using simulation for disaster preparedness. Surgery (United States). 2016;160(3):565-570. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2016.03.027
- 61. Global Health Security Agenda. 2018. https://www.ghsagenda.org/about.
- 62. Glow SD, Colucci VJ, Allington DR, Noonan CW, Hall EC. Managing multiple-casualty incidents: a rural medical preparedness training assessment. 2013;28(4):334-341. doi:10.1017/s1049023x13000423
- 63. Gostin LO, Mundaca-Shah CC, Kelley PW. Neglected dimensions of global security: The Global Health Risk Framework Commission JAMA. 2016;315(14):1451-1452. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1964.
- 64. Gostin LO, Tomori O, Wibulpolprasert S, et al. Toward a Common Secure Future: Four Global Commissions in the Wake of Ebola. PLOS Medicine. 2016;13(5):e1002042. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002042
- 65. Grant WD, Secreti L. Joint civilian/national guard mass casualty exercise provides model for preparedness training. Military Medicine. 2007;172(8 PG-806-811):806-811.
- 66. Grock A, Aluisio AR, Abram E, Roblin P, Arquilla B. Evaluation of the association between disaster training and confidence in disaster response among graduate medical trainees: A cross-sectional study. 2017;12(1):5-9. doi:10.5055/ajdm.2017.0253
- 67. Hannings AN, von Waldner T, McEwen DW, White CA. Assessment of Emergency Preparedness Modules in Introductory Pharmacy Practice Experiences. 2016;80(2):23. doi:10.5688/ajpe80223
- 68. Haverkort JJ, Biesheuvel TH, Bloemers FW, et al. Hospital evacuation: Exercise versus reality. Injury. 2016;47(9):2012-2017. doi:10.1016/j.injury.2016.03.028

- 69. Heinrichs WL, Youngblood P, Harter P, Kusumoto L, Dev P. Training healthcare personnel for mass-casualty incidents in a virtual emergency department: VED II. 2010;25(5 PG-424-32):424–432.
- Heinrichs WL, Youngblood P, Harter PM, Dev P. Simulation for team training and assessment: Case studies of online training with virtual worlds. World Journal of Surgery. 2008;32(2 PG-161-170):161-170. doi:10.1007/s00268-007-9354-2
- 71. Horney JA, Sollecito W, Alexander LK. Competency-based preparedness training for public health practitioners. J Public Health Manag Pract JPHMP. 2005;Suppl:S147-149.
- Ingrassia PL, Colombo D, Barra FL, Carenzo L, Franc J, Della Corte F. Impact of training in medical disaster management: A pilot study using a new tool for live simulation. Emergencias. 2013;25(6):459-466.
- 73. Ingrassia PL, Prato F, Geddo A, et al. Evaluation of medical management during a mass casualty incident exercise: an objective assessment tool to enhance direct observation. J Emerg Med. 2010;39(5):629-636. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2009.03.029
- 74. Ingrassia PL, Ragazzoni L, Tengattini M, Carenzo L, Della Corte F. Nationwide Program of Education for Undergraduates in the Field of Disaster Medicine: Development of a Core Curriculum Centered on Blended Learning and Simulation Tools. Prehospital Disaster Med. 2014;29(05):508-515. doi:10.1017/S1049023X14000831
- 75. Jima D, Mitike G, Hailemariam Z, et al. The Ethiopian Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program: strengthening public health systems and building human resource capacity. Pan Afr Med J. 2011;10 Supp 1:5.
- Johnson A, Roush RE, Howe JL, et al. Bioterrorism and Emergency Preparedness in Aging (BTEPA): HRSA-Funded GEC Collaboration for Curricula and Training. Gerontol Geriatr Educ. 2006;26(4):63-86. doi:10.1300/J021v26n04_06
- 77. Jones-Konneh TEC, Murakami A, Sasaki H, Egawa S. Intensive education of health care workers improves the outcome of ebola virus disease: Lessons learned from the 2014 outbreak in Sierra Leone. Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2017;243(2 PG-101-105):101–105. doi:10.1620/tjem.243.101
- 78. Jonson CO, Pettersson J, Rybing J, Nilsson H, Prytz E. Short simulation exercises to improve emergency department nurses' self-efficacy for initial disaster management: Controlled before and after study. 2017;55:20-25. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2017.04.020
- 79. Kang SHK. Spaced Repetition Promotes Efficient and Effective Learning: Policy Implications for Instruction. Fiske ST, ed. Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences. 2016;3(1):12-19. doi:10.1177/2372732215624708
- 80. Kim TE, Shankel T, Reibling ET, et al. Healthcare students interprofessional critical event/disaster response course. 2017;12(1):11-26. doi:10.5055/ajdm.2017.0254
- 81. King DR, Patel MB, Feinstein AJ, Earle SA, Topp RF, Proctor KG. Simulation training for a mass casualty incident: Two-year experience at the army trauma training center. Journal of Trauma Injury, Infection and Critical Care. 2006;61(4):943-948. doi:10.1097/01.ta.0000233670.97515.3a
- 82. Klein KR, Brandenburg DC, Atas JG, Maher A. The use of trained observers as an evaluation tool for a multi-hospital bioterrorism exercise. 2005;20(3):159-163.
- Klima DA, Seiler SH, Peterson JB, et al. Full-scale regional exercises: Closing the gaps in disaster preparedness. Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery. 2012;73(3):592-598. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e318265cbb2
- Kohlhoff SA, Crouch B, Roblin PM, et al. Evaluation of hospital mass screening and infection control practices in a pandemic influenza full-scale exercise. 2012;6(4):378-384. doi:10.1001/dmp.2012.73

- Kuhls DA, Chestovich PJ, Coule P, et al. Basic Disaster Life Support (BDLS) Training Improves First Responder Confidence to Face Mass-Casualty Incidents in Thailand. 2017;32(5):492-500. doi:10.1017/s1049023x17006550
- Leaming JM, Adoff S, Terndrup TE. Computer simulation as a tool for assessing decision-making in pandemic influenza response training. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2013;14(3):236-242. doi:10.5811/westjem.2012.3.6882
- 87. Lee C, McLeod S, Peddle M. First-responder accuracy using salt after brief initial training. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2014;21(5):S80. doi:10.1111/acem.12365
- 88. Leiba A, Drayman N, Amsalem Y, et al. Establishing a high level of knowledge regarding bioterrorist threats in emergency department physicians: methodology and the results of a national bio-preparedness project. 2007;22(3):207-211; discussion 212.
- Leiba A, Goldberg A, Hourvitz A, et al. Lessons Learned From Clinical Anthrax Drills: Evaluation of Knowledge and Preparedness for a Bioterrorist Threat in Israeli Emergency Departments. Annals of Emergency Medicine. 2006;48(2):194-199,199.e1,199.e2. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2005.12.006
- 90. Lennquist Montan K, Hreckovski B, Dobson B, et al. Development and evaluation of a new simulation model for interactive training of the medical response to major incidents and disasters. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg. 2014;40(4):429-443. doi:10.1007/s00068-013-0350-y
- 91. Leonard SN, Murphy K, Zaeem M, DiVall MV. An introductory review module for an antiinfectives therapeutics course. 2012;76(7):135. doi:10.5688/ajpe767135
- 92. Leow JJ, Brundage SI, Kushner AL, et al. Mass casualty incident training in a resource-limited environment. Br J Surg. 2012;99(3 PG-356-61):356–361. doi:10.1002/bjs.7762
- 93. Lescano AG, Salmon-Mulanovich G, Pedroni E, Blazes DL. Epidemiology: Outbreak investigation and response training. Science. 2007;318(5850 PG-574-575):574–575. doi:10.1126/science.1146837
- 94. Levy LA, Rokusek CF, Bragg SM, Howell JT. Interdisciplinary approach to all-hazards preparedness: are you ready? How do we know? J Public Health Manag Pract JPHMP. 2009;15(2 Suppl):S8-12. doi:10.1097/01.PHH.0000345979.67724.80
- 95. Lichtveld M, Hodge J, Gebbie K, Thompson FE", Loos DI. Preparedness on the frontline what's law got to do with it. The Journal of Law, Medicine, & Ethics. 2002:184-188.
- 96. Linney ACS, George Kernohan W, Higginson R. The identification of competencies for an NHS response to chemical, biological, radiological, nuclear and explosive (CBRNe) emergencies. International Emergency Nursing. 2011;19(2):96-105. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1755599X10000339. doi: 10.1016/j.ienj.2010.04.001.
- 97. Livet M, Richter J, Ellison L, et al. Emergency preparedness academy adds public health to readiness equation. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2005;Suppl:S4-10.
- 98. Logue CH, Lewis SM, Lansley A, et al. Case study: design and implementation of training for scientists deploying to Ebola diagnostic field laboratories in Sierra Leone: October 2014 to February 2016. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2017;372(1721 PG-). doi:10.1098/rstb.2016.0299
- 99. Lubogo M, Donewell B, Godbless L, et al. Ebola virus disease outbreak; the role of field epidemiology training programme in the fight against the epidemic, Liberia, 2014. 2015;22 Suppl 1(PG-5):5. doi:10.11694/pamj.supp.2015.22.1.6053
- 100. Lucey DR, Sholts S, Donaldson H, White J, Mitchell SR. One health education for future physicians in the pan-epidemic "age of humans". International journal of infectious diseases: IJID : official publication of the International Society for Infectious Diseases. 2017;64:1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28838849.

- Markenson D, DiMaggio C, Redlener I. Preparing health professions students for terrorism, disaster, and public health emergencies: core competencies. Acad Med J Assoc Am Med Coll. 2005;80(6):517-526.
- May L, Omron R, Piller M, Haile-Mariam T, Scott J. Integrating Emerging Infections Education into Medical Education: An Innovative Approach. 2007;12(1 PG-4461):4461. doi:10.3402/meo.v12i.4461
- 103. McCabe OL, Marum F, Mosley A, et al. Community capacity-building in disaster mental health resilience: a pilot study of an academic/faith partnership model. 2012;14(2):112-122.
- 104. McCurley MC, Miller CW, Tucker FE, et al. Educating medical staff about responding to a radiological or nuclear emergency. Health Phys. 2009;96(5 Suppl 2):S50-54. doi:10.1097/01.HP.0000339001.77899.15
- 105. McQuilkin PA, Niescierenko M, Beddoe AM, et al. Academic medical support to the Ebola virus disease outbreak in Liberia. Academic medicine: journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges. 2017;92(12):1674-1679.
- 106. Mikkelsen J, Reime MH, Harris AK. Nursing students' learning of managing cross-infections-scenario-based simulation training versus study groups. 2008;28(6):664-671. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2007.11.003
- 107. Monday B, Gitta SN, Wasswa P, et al. Paradigm shift: contribution of field epidemiology training in advancing the "One Health" approach to strengthen disease surveillance and outbreak investigations in Africa. 2011;10 Supp 1(PG-13):13.
- 108. Montan KL, Ortenwall P, Lennquist S. Assessment of the accuracy of the Medical Response to Major Incidents (MRMI) course for interactive training of the response to major incidents and disasters. 2015;10(2):93-107. doi:10.5055/ajdm.2015.0194
- 109. Morrison AM, Catanzaro AM. High-fidelity simulation and emergency preparedness. Public Health Nurs. 2010;27(2 PG-164-73):164–173. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2010.00838.x
- 110. Moulsdale HJ, Khetsuriani N, Deshevoi S, Butler R, Simpson J, Salisbury D. Simulation exercises to strengthen polio outbreak preparedness: Experience of the world health organization european region. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2014;210(PG-S208-S215):S208–S215. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu120
- 111. Moye PK, Pesik N, Terndrup T, et al. Bioterrorism training in U.S. emergency medicine residencies: has it changed since 9/11? Academic Emergency Medicine: Official Journal of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine. 2007;14(3):221-227. doi:10.1197/j.aem.2006.10.102
- Muma J, Simuunza M, Mwachalimba K, et al. Development of a curriculum for training in One Health analytical epidemiology at the University of Zambia. Onderstepoort J Vet Res. 2012;79(2). doi:10.4102/ojvr.v79i2.475
- 113. Mutabaruka E, Sawadogo M, Tarnagda Z, et al. The West Africa Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program, a strategy to improve disease surveillance and epidemic control in West Africa. 2011;10 Supp 1(PG-10):10.
- 114. Nambisan P. Online public health preparedness training programs: an evaluation of user experience with the technological environment. Online J Public Health Inform. 2010;2(3). doi:10.5210/ojphi.v2i3.3012
- 115. Narra R, Sobel J, Piper C, et al. CDC safety training coursefor ebola virus disease healthcare workers. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2017;23(PG-S217-S224):S217–S224. doi:10.3201/eid2313.170549
- 116. Nilsson H, Ruter A. Management of resources at major incidents and disasters in relation to patient outcome: a pilot study of an educational model. Eur J Emerg Med. 2008;15(3):162-165. doi:10.1097/MEJ.0b013e3282f4d14b

 Nsubuga P, Johnson K, Tetteh C, et al. Field epidemiology and laboratory training programs in sub-saharan Africa from 2004 to 2010: Need, the process, and prospects. Pan African Medical Journal. 2011;10(PG-).

http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L365002870 NS -.

- 118. Ntahobakurira I, Antara S, Galgalo TB, et al. The Rwanda Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Program: training skilled disease detectives. 2011;10 Supp 1(PG-7):7.
- O'Brien C, Selod S, Lamb KV. A national initiative to train long-term care staff for disaster response and recovery. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2009;15(2 Suppl):S20-4. doi:10.1097/01.phh.0000345981.57422.90
- 120. O'Neill PA. The ABC's of disaster response. Scand J Surg SJS Off Organ Finn Surg Soc Scand Surg Soc. 2005;94(4):259-266. doi:10.1177/145749690509400403
- 121. Olson CM. Publication Bias in Editorial Decision Making. JAMA. 2002;287(21):2825. doi:10.1001/jama.287.21.2825
- 122. Olson DK, Scheller A, Larson S, Lindeke L, Edwardson S. Using gaming simulation to evaluate bioterrorism and emergency readiness education. Public Health Reports. 2010;125(3):468-477.
- 123. Orfaly RA, Biddinger PD, Burstein JL, Leaning J. Integration of academia and practice in preparedness training: the Harvard School of Public Health experience. Public Health Rep Wash DC 1974. 2005;120 Suppl 1:48-51. doi:10.1177/00333549051200S110
- 124. Otto JL, Baliga P, Sanchez JL, et al. Training initiatives within the AFHSC-Global Emerging Infections Surveillance and Response System: support for IHR (2005). BMC Public Health. 2011;11 Suppl 2(PG-S5):S5. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-s2-s5
- 125. Otu A, Ebenso B, Okuzu O, Osifo-Dawodu E. Using a mHealth tutorial application to change knowledge and attitude of frontline health workers to Ebola virus disease in Nigeria: a before-and-after study. 2016;14:5. doi:10.1186/s12960-016-0100-4
- 126. Owens MP, Buffington C, Frost MP, Waldner RJ. The South Dakota Model: Health Care Professions Student Disaster Preparedness and Deployment Training. 2017;11(6):735-740. doi:10.1017/dmp.2017.116
- Paddock MT, Bailitz J, Horowitz R, Khishfe B, Cosby K, Sergel MJ. Disaster response team FAST skills training with a portable ultrasound simulator compared to traditional training: Pilot study. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2015;16(2):325-330. doi:10.5811/westjem.2015.1.23720
- 128. Pande T, Saravu K, Temesgen Z, et al. Evaluating clinicians' user experience and acceptability of LearnTB, a smartphone application for tuberculosis in India. Mhealth. 2017;3(PG-30):30. doi:10.21037/mhealth.2017.07.01
- Parrish AR, Oliver S, Jenkins D, Ruscio B, Green JB, Colenda C. A short medical school course on responding to bioterrorism and other disasters. Academic Medicine. 2005;80(9 PG-820-823):820–823. doi:10.1097/00001888-200509000-00007
- 130. Pate A, Bratberg JP, Robertson C, Smith G. Evaluation of a Tabletop Emergency Preparedness Exercise for Pharmacy Students. 2016;80(3):50. doi:10.5688/ajpe80350
- 131. Pattillo MM. Mass casualty disaster nursing course. 2003;28(6 PG-271-5):271–275.
- Pelaccia T, Delplancq H, Triby E, et al. Can teaching methods based on pattern recognition skill development optimise triage in mass-casualty incidents? Emergency Medicine Journal. 2009;26(12):899-902. doi:10.1136/emj.2008.067215
- 133. Pfenninger EG, Domres BD, Stahl W, Bauer A, Houser CM, Himmelseher S. Medical student disaster medicine education: The development of an educational resource. International Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2010;3(1 PG-9-20):9–20. doi:10.1007/s12245-009-0140-9

- 134. Pradhan M, Dash B. Effect of Video-Assisted Teaching Module (VATM) on Knowledge of ASHAs regarding RNTCP in Kuchinda Block of Sambalpur (Odisha). 2015;106(3):107-110.
- 135. Pryor E, Heck E, Norman L, et al. Integrated decision-making in response to weapons of mass destruction incidents: development and initial evaluation of a course for healthcare professionals. 2006;21(1 PG-24-30):24–30.
- 136. Quiram BJ, Carpender K, Pennel C. The Texas Training Initiative for Emergency Response (T-TIER): an effective learning strategy to prepare the broader audience of health professionals. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2005;Suppl:S83-9.
- Rajasingham A, Bowen A, O'Reilly C, et al. Cholera prevention training materials for community health workers, Haiti, 2010-2011. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2011;17(11 PG-2162-2165):2162–2165. doi:10.3201/eid1711.110806
- 138. Rega PP, Fink BN. Immersive simulation education: a novel approach to pandemic preparedness and response. Public Health Nurs. 2014;31(2 PG-167-74):167–174. doi:10.1111/phn.12064
- 139. Reid WM, Brown LM, Landis DC. Leadership, collaboration, and effective training principles and practices from a decade of training by a center for public health preparedness. Journal of Emergency Management. 2014;12(1):31-44. doi: 10.5055/jem.2014.0160.
- 140. Reid WM, Ruzycki S, Haney ML, et al. Disaster mental health training in Florida and the response to the 2004 hurricanes. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2005;Suppl:S57-62.
- Reynolds M, Malekani J, Damon I, et al. Training health workers for enhanced monkeypox surveillance, Democratic Republic of the Congo. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2014;21:274-275. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2014.03.990
- 142. Ruter A, Ortenwall P, Vikstrom T. Staff procedure skills in management groups during exercises in disaster medicine. 2007;22(4):318-321.
- 143. Savoia E, Testa MA, Biddinger PD, et al. Assessing public health capabilities during emergency preparedness tabletop exercises: Reliability and validity of a measurement tool. Public Health Reports. 2009;124(1):138-148.
- 144. Scott LA, Carson DS, Greenwell IB. Disaster 101: A novel approach to disaster medicine training for health professionals. Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2010;39(2):220-226. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2009.08.064
- 145. Shannon CC. Using a simulated mass casualty incident to teach response readiness: a case study. J Nurs Educ. 2015;54(4):215-219. doi:10.3928/01484834-20150318-05
- 146. Siddle J, Tolleson-Rinehart S, Brice J. Survey of Emergency Department staff on disaster preparedness and training for Ebola virus disease. 2016;11(1):5-18. doi:10.5055/ajdm.2016.0220
- 147. Silenas R, Akins R, Parrish AR, Edwards JC. Developing disaster preparedness competence: an experiential learning exercise for multiprofessional education. 2008;20(1):62-68. doi:10.1080/10401330701798311
- 148. Sisler L, Hanlon V. Supporting emerging infectious disease education through utilization of "at-aglance" guides for infection prevention and containment unit staff. American Journal of Infection Control. 2016;44(6 PG-124-125):S124–S125. doi:10.1016/j.ajic.2016.04.151
- 149. Sow I, Alemu W, Nanyunja M, Duale S, Perry HN, Gaturuku P. Trained district health personnel and the performance of integrated disease surveillance in the WHO African region. 2010;7(1):16-19.
- Spinello E, Fischbach R. Problem-based learning in public health instruction: a pilot study of an online simulation as a problem-based learning approach. Educ Health (Abingdon). 2004;17(3):365-373. doi:10.1080/13576280400002783
- 151. Stanton F, Grant J. Approaches to experiential learning, course delivery and validation in medicine. A background document. Medical Education. 1999;33(4):282-297.

- 152. Stehling-Ariza T, Lefevre A, Calles D, et al. Establishment of CDC global rapid response team to ensure global health security. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2017;23(PG-S203-S209):S203–S209. doi:10.3201/eid2313.170711
- 153. Stirling BV, Harmston J, Alsobayel H. An educational programme for nursing college staff and students during a MERS- coronavirus outbreak in Saudi Arabia. 2015;14:20. doi:10.1186/s12912-015-0065-y
- 154. Streichert LC, O'Carroll PW, Gordon PR, Stevermer AC, Turner AM, Nicola RM. Using problembased learning as a strategy for cross-discipline emergency preparedness training. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2005;Suppl(PG-S95-9):S95–9.
- 155. Strout K, Saber DA, Caruso LS, et al. Interprofessional Mass Casualty Incident Simulation Design Protocol to Prepare Prelicensure Nursing Students to Respond to a Disaster. 2017;42(5 PG-E1e4):E1–e4. doi:10.1097/nne.00000000000365
- 156. Summerhill EM, Mathew MC, Stipho S, et al. A simulation-based biodefense and disaster preparedness curriculum for internal medicine residents. Medical Teacher. 2008;30(6):e145-e151. doi:10.1080/01421590802047257
- Swartzentruber DA, Jones JR, Scott LA, Wahlquist AE. Lifesaving performance of health care providers during a multi-patient simulated disaster. Annals of Emergency Medicine. 2014;64(4):S46. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2014.07.154
- 158. Tauxe RV, Lynch M, Lambert Y, Sobel J, Domercant JW, Khan A. Rapid development and use of a nationwide training program for cholera management, Haiti, 2010. 2011;17(11):2094-2098. doi:10.3201/eid1711.110857
- Terndrup T, Nafziger S, Weissman N, Casebeer L, Pryor E. Online bioterrorism continuing medical education: Development and preliminary testing. Academic Emergency Medicine. 2005;12(1):45-50. doi:10.1197/j.aem.2004.08.040
- 160. Valentine MA, Perdue CL, Cummings JF, Smith JC, Gray GC. Evaluation of the certificate in emerging infectious disease research and the certificate in one health training programs, University of Florida. Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health. 2015;5(1):23-31. doi:10.1016/j.jegh.2014.10.004
- 161. Walsh L, Craddock H, Gulley K, Strauss-Riggs K, Schor KW. Building health care system capacity: Training health care professionals in disaster preparedness health care coalitions. Prehospital and disaster medicine. 2015;30(2):123-130. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25659047. doi: 10.1017/S1049023X14001460.
- 162. Waxman DA, Chan EW, Pillemer F, Smith TW, Abir M, Nelson C. Assessing and Improving Hospital Mass-Casualty Preparedness: A No-Notice Exercise. 2017;32(6 PG-662-666):662–666. doi:10.1017/s1049023x17006793
- 163. Weiner E, Gordon J, Irwin M. An international online curriculum for nurses in emergency planning and response. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2006;122(PG-1004):1004.
- 164. Weiner E. Addressing Emergency Preparedness and Response Competencies for Nurses through Simulation Experiences. Clinical Simulation in Nursing. 2006;2(2 PG-43-47):e43–e47. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2009.05.017
- 165. Weiner E. Preparing nurses internationally for emergency planning and response. Online Journal of Issues in Nursing. 2006;11(3 PG-). http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L44544857 NS -.
- 166. Westphal RG, Jewell S, Skawinski E. Development of an on-line bioterrorism preparedness course. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2005;Suppl(PG-S132-4):S132–4.

- 167. Wiesner L, Kappler S, Shuster A, DeLuca M, Ott J, Glasser E. Disaster Training in 24 Hours: Evaluation of a Novel Medical Student Curriculum in Disaster Medicine. Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jemermed.2017.12.008
- 168. Williams H, Downes E. Development of a Course on Complex Humanitarian Emergencies: Preparation for the Impact of Climate Change. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2017;49(6 PG-661-669):661– 669. doi:10.1111/jnu.12339
- 169. Yanagawa Y, Omori K, Ishikawa K, et al. Difference in First Aid Activity During Mass Casualty Training Based on Having Taken an Educational Course. 2017:1-4. doi:10.1017/dmp.2017.99
- 170. Yeskey K, Hughes J, Galluzzo B, et al. Ebola virus training: A needs assessment and gap analysis. Health security. 2017;15(3):225-229. http://www.liebertonline.com/doi/abs/10.1089/hs.2016.0116. doi: 10.1089/hs.2016.0116.
- 171. Zotti ME, Ellington SR, Perez M. CDC Online Course: Reproductive Health in Emergency Preparedness and Response. Journal of Women's Health. 2016;25(9 PG-861-864):861–864. doi:10.1089/jwh.2016.5993